

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Blended eLearning Tools and Upper Elementary Reading Achievement

Angela Dawn Tester-Smith *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Instructional Media Design Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Angela D. Tester-Smith

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Debra Tyrrell, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. David Perry, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Ioan Ionas, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Blended eLearning Tools and Upper Elementary Reading Achievement

by

Angela D. Tester-Smith

MA, East Tennessee State University, 2007

BA, East Tennessee State University, 1998

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2022

#### Abstract

Though researchers have demonstrated that adaptive practice software is an effective tool to use with primary grade students, they have not fully established the impact blended eLearning tools have on upper elementary students in a suburban school setting. The problem facing one southeastern state district was that their schools had selected different approaches to address declining reading scores, but the district had no systematic analysis of the chosen blended eLearning tools to determine an improvement in reading growth scores among all students. The purpose of this comparative quantitative project study was to determine the influence different blended eLearning tools, Reading Plus and IXL, had on Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) TNReady English Language Arts scores of Title I fourth grade students. Siemens's connectivism provided the theoretical framework for this study. Archival data from a southeastern school district were used to examine the influence Reading Plus, IXL, and a control group had on fourth grade TCAP TNReady reading scores. The convenience and purposeful sampling included 143 fourth grade students from three Title I schools. Analysis of a one-way ANCOVA indicated that Reading Plus had greater influence on reading scores of fourth grade students. A policy recommendation paper was created as a tool to guide stakeholders in making informed decisions about selecting adaptive software tools based on evidence-based practices. The results may add to the knowledge in the field of educational technology and may be used by elementary administrators, instructional coaches, and upper elementary teachers when selecting blended learning programs to support their literacy curriculum.

Blended eLearning Tools and Upper Elementary Reading Achievement

by

Angela Tester-Smith

MA, East Tennessee State University, 2007

BS, East Tennessee State University, 1998

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2022

## Dedication

This project study is dedicated to my dad: my role model, my hero, my guardian angel. I will miss you forever.

#### Acknowledgments

To my parents, who were my first teachers, thank you. Your example of hard work pushed me to persevere when the going got tough. Thank you, Mom, for the frequent calls and text messages to tell me to hang in there. You provided my little family with countless cooked meals, folded laundry, and wrapped Christmas presents to help me keep my head above water while I focused on my writing. I am eternally grateful!

I wish to thank and acknowledge my family, who patiently supported me during this long and tedious process. To my husband, Marty, who helped with tasks around the house, cooked many meals, and watched over the kids while I locked myself away to study or write. To my son, Bentley, whose encouraging words stuck with me late into the night. To my daughter, Kate, who always referred to me as Dr. Smith as a reminder of my future title. Bentley and Kate, you are my "why" in everything I do. All my hard work and long hours are for you. I strive to be the example of someone who worked hard to achieve goals.

To my sister, Misty, for your unwavering support every time we talked. You always reassured me that I could do this. It is through your rays of sunshine that I am where I am today.

I would also like to thank my coworkers for supporting me through this journey. I would especially like to thank Dr. David Timbs for his vision, support, and example. It is the Technology Teacher Leader program that led me to this journey. Thank you for allowing me to be a part of an elite group of educators.

Lastly, I would like to thank my research committee. To my committee chair, Dr. Tyrrell, for the continued support and guidance throughout this process. Writing a dissertation in the middle of a global pandemic proved challenging. There were many days I wanted to quit, but you pushed me to keep going with your encouraging words and understanding. I am a more critical thinker and better writer from this journey. Thank you for carrying me when I could not keep going. To my methodologist, Dr. Perry, for the vast amount of knowledge you shared with me to help me analyze the data. You were very patient with me and provided me with helpful resources to finish the results section of my study. Without your guidance, I could not have finished. Thank you!

### I am very blessed!

I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me. ~Philippians 4:13

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	6
Definition of Terms	8
Significance of the Study	9
Research Question and Hypotheses	9
Review of the Literature	10
Theoretical Foundation	11
Application of Connectivism Constructs in Elementary School Studies	13
Review of the Broader Problem	14
Reading Strategies in the Upper Elementary Classroom	14
Differentiated Instruction	15
Personalized Learning	20
Blended Learning Approach	25
Computer-Assisted Reading Instruction	34
Adaptive Practice Software	38
Implications	42
Summary	43
Section 2: The Methodology	45
Research Design and Approach	45

## Table of Contents

Setting and Sample	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Adaptive, Blended Learning Reading Intervention/Treatment	
Instrumentation and Materials	
Reliability and Validity	
Data Collection and Analysis	
Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations	60
Assumptions	60
Limitations	61
Scope and Delimitations	
Protection of Participants' Rights	
Data Analysis Results	64
Summary	71
Section 3: The Project	
Rationale	
Project Review of the Literature	75
Value of Evidence-Based Practice	75
Implementing Districtwide Analysis	
Using Technology to Meet the Needs of Student Subpopulations	
Providing Ongoing Support for Teachers Through Systemic Leadership	82
Project Description	
Potential Barriers and Solutions	
Proposal for Implementation and Timetable	

Roles and Responsibilities of the Student and Others	89
Project Evaluation Plan	90
Project Implications	90
Section 4: Reflection and Conclusions	92
Project Strengths and Limitations	92
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	93
Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change	94
Reflection on the Importance of the Work	95
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	96
Conclusion	98
References	99
Appendix: The Project	119

# List of Tables

Table 1. Test of Normality	677
Table 2. Test of Between-Subjects Effects	68
Table 3. Estimated Marginal Means	69
Table 4. Pairwise Comparison	70

# List of Figures

Figure 1	Station Rotation Model	4
Figure 2	Power Analysis 4	.9
Figure 3	Distribution of ELA Scores	6

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### **The Local Problem**

In this study, I examined the influence two different blended eLearning reading software programs had on reading achievement and growth as measured by the Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) TNReady reading assessment of fourth grade students. Results from this study may support the selection of blended eLearning software programs at the elementary level in suburban schools. Blended learning is a proven method to support student achievement in reading because teachers are better able to differentiate and personalize instruction (Gulosino & Miron, 2017; Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015).

Schools and educators across the nation place high regard on increasing student achievement, as proficient reading skills allow students to develop foundational skills for lifelong learning. Recent national and state achievement assessment data for reading have revealed an alarming trend. The 2019 National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) report indicated that average reading scores for Grades 4 and 8 were lower than 2017 scores (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). According to this report, fourth grade students scoring at or above NAEP proficient fell from 37% in 2017 to 35% in 2019 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Similarly, eighth grade students fell from 36% in 2017 to 34% in 2019 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Furthermore, the Tennessee State Report Card indicated that students in the district of this study are showing less academic growth in English Language Arts (ELA) compared to Math (TN Department of Education, n.d.). According to the principal at the study site, the southeastern state school district quarterly checkpoint assessment data also indicated that reading lagged behind math scores in fourth grade, particularly with English language learners (ELLs), as displayed in a table for teachers to view during the checkpoint data meeting.

Digital learning provides opportunities for personalized learning pathways through a blended learning approach (Gulosino & Miron, 2017; Klaveren et al., 2017; Siddiquee et al., 2019; Terrazas-Arellanes et al., 2017). Blended learning uses face-toface instruction and digital technology to provide students with control over time, place, path, and pace (Graham et al., 2019; Horn & Fisher, 2017; & Horn & Staker, 2015). Research studies conducted in K to 12 and higher educational settings showed blended learning to increase student engagement, satisfaction, and attainment (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Unal & Unal, 2017). Recent studies on one blended learning program, Lexia Reading Core5, indicated supportive benefits, enhancing reading skills for K to 2 students with lower socioeconomic backgrounds (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). Likewise, Accelerated Reader, Study Island, and Achieve 3000 (other reading blended learning programs) studies showed promise in increasing reading scores of upper elementary students (Boone, 2017; Brinson, 2019; Mitchell, 2018).

Because research has indicated that blended learning interventions are improving standardized test scores, one southeastern state school district launched a blended learning initiative in 2016 to infuse technology in Grades 3 to 12 by providing students with 1:1 laptop devices, access to various software programs, and professional development for teachers. The district's blended learning initiative focused on a personalized learning plan in upper elementary classrooms. The district modeled their personalized blended learning plan from Tennessee's Personalized Learning Task Force Report, which offered guidance to Tennessee educators on leveraging technology to provide students with pathways to success (Tennessee Department of Education, 2016).

Once one to one laptops, or 1:1, was implemented in third and fourth grades in the school district, school administrators and teachers in the district began searching for software programs to use to enhance student outcomes. Because the district allowed each school to make decisions independently, elementary schools chose different programs, and some chose no programs. Reading Plus and IXL were two adaptive software programs used by two different schools in the district that required a paid subscription. Some schools chose free subscriptions that did not offer the personalized learning approach with the adaptive feature.

Reading Plus is an adaptive literacy program for struggling readers in Grades 3 to 12 (Reading Plus, 2020). According to Reading Plus (2020), the software focuses on increasing reading efficiency to help students build reading comprehension skills. According to Reading Plus, students gain 2.5 years of growth in reading in one school year by using the software. Through a teacher dashboard, educators can track student progress with data driven reports. The student portal offers a personalized approach with adaptive practice sessions for students. Reading Plus also offers a parent portal for parents to support their student's learning at home (Reading Plus, 2020). However, students in the district did not use Reading Plus at home because they were not allowed to take home their laptop devices. Many families in the school did not have the capability to connect to the internet or the hardware to support online homework assignments. Therefore, teachers did not assign Reading Plus practice after school. Reading Plus was used during literacy stations, areas within the classroom where students engaged independently or in collaborative groups to practice and expand their literacy skills, while the teacher worked with small groups of students. Students used Reading Plus for 20 minutes per day during their time at the "technology station," where students worked individually on laptop devices using computer-aided literacy programs (see Figure 1).

#### Figure 1





Another personalized learning program chosen by one of the elementary schools in the district was IXL (IXL Learning, 2021). IXL also offers an adaptive experience for students in reading, as well as other subject areas, such as math, science, social studies, and Spanish for K to 12 students. IXL aligned their skills practice with the state standards and adopted textbooks. According to IXL Learning (2021), students in IXL schools outperformed the other schools and made greater gains on standardized assessments. Before beginning practice with the software, students are given a diagnostic assessment to pinpoint exactly what the students know so teachers know how to help the student improve (IXL Learning, 2021). In addition, the results of the diagnostic assessment allow the program to tailor an adaptive learning experience for each student. The IXL teacher dashboard provides teachers with real-time feedback on student progress and recommends areas for differentiated instruction to fill knowledge gaps (IXL Learning, 2021). IXL offers a parent portal that allows parents to see the real-time data on how their child is progressing in each subject. Parents also have access to parent videos, skills plans, an at-home implementation guide, and printable material to support their student's learning at home (IXL Learning, 2021). The elementary school in the district who purchased IXL did not require students to use the software after school because many families did not have the hardware or software to support online learning at home. IXL was used during literacy stations while the teacher worked with small groups of students. Students used IXL for 20 minutes per day during their time at the "technology station."

Despite the rapid increase in technology integration, there is a debate over which blended learning software programs have the most positive impact on student achievement (Delgado et al., 2015; Zawilinski et al., 2016). According to the supervisor of instructional technology at the study site, administrators in the district expressed a growing concern of whether the recent 1:1 blended learning initiative was impacting state achievement scores. The district's Five-Year Strategic Plan 2017 stated that the district's goal is to continue refining effective technology applications in elementary grades. According to the Tennessee Department of Education, districts across the state reported concerns of "developing an efficient process for vetting new and expanding digital content and tools" (Owen, 2016, p. 8). The chosen software programs have independent studies to support their claims, but there is a lack of peer-reviewed research studies investigating the impact IXL or Reading Plus have on upper elementary reading achievement in suburban schools. There is a gap in the peer-reviewed practice literature about the effect IXL or Reading Plus has on declining reading scores in upper elementary students in suburban schools, thus hindering school leaders in making sound decisions on which software programs to implement. The problem facing this southeastern state district was that schools in the district selected different interventions to address declining reading scores, but the district had no systematic analysis of the chosen adaptive reading eLearning interventions to determine an improvement in reading growth scores among all students. There was limited analysis to examine if there is a statistically significant difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between IXL and Reading Plus, controlling for sex, district ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. This study addressed a local problem by focusing specifically on blended eLearning tools implemented to support elementary students' reading achievement.

#### Rationale

To ensure that all students demonstrate academic progress, the district implemented several methods to address declining fourth grade reading scores (TN Department of Education, n.d.). Despite implementing various technology tools, the principal and the supervisor of instructional technology at the study site indicated that stakeholders in the district expressed concern about whether the technology tools utilized have been beneficial. In addition, according to a teacher at the study site, teachers have expressed frustration by the district utilizing too many software programs and not knowing which one to use for their students. Teachers felt like the district's technology department made too many changes to available platforms, causing frustration in learning how to use the new technology. Teachers at the study site indicated that they had an interest in finding an effective software program that could be used for many years. Examining blended eLearning tools concerning academic achievement was warranted to fill a systematic analysis void in the local gap of practice.

My study addressed the difference two blended eLearning software programs had on fourth grade TCAP TNReady reading scores. Implementation of the interventions was a site-based decision made by the teachers and administrators at each school. Because the interventions were implemented before this study, I evaluated the impact the software programs had on TCAP TNReady reading scores by using archival data. Although 2018-2019 was the first year of implementation at the school level, this study may support IXL or Reading Plus's implementation at the district level. The purpose of this quasiexperimental study was to study the difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between three schools (no blended learning, IXL, and Reading Plus), controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores.

#### **Definition of Terms**

*Adaptive learning*: An educational approach that uses computer applications with built-in artificial intelligent algorithms to interact with the learner to individualize the educational experience (Kolchenko, 2018). When students answer problems incorrectly, adaptive learning programs search the student's patterns from prior interaction and analyze them to create a tailored experience. The goal is to keep the student working within their zone of proximal development (Kolchenko, 2018).

*Blended learning*: Blended learning allows educators to differentiate and personalize the learning experience for each student (Powell et al., 2015). Blended learning classrooms fall into one of four models: station rotation, flex, a la carte, or enriched virtual (Horn & Staker, 2015).

*Differentiated instruction*: Differentiated instruction requires tailoring instruction to meet the individual needs of each student (Puzio et al., 2020). Teachers provide multiple approaches to content, process, product, or the learning environment (Tomlinson, 1995). Classrooms that offer differentiated instruction are student-centered, have ongoing assessment, and offer flexible grouping (Tomlinson, 1995).

*Station rotation model:* Students rotate through learning centers on a schedule where one of the stations involves the use of technology (Horn & Fisher, 2017). This model is most often used in the elementary setting where teachers use learning centers to allow time to meet with small groups of students (Horn & Staker, 2015).

*Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) TNReady*: A program of state-mandated end-of-year assessments for Grades 3 to 8 in math, ELA, science, and

social studies (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-b). There is a specifically designed TCAP TNReady test for students with learning disabilities and ELLs (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-b). The data from the third and fourth grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores were used for this study.

#### Significance of the Study

This study addressed a local problem by focusing specifically on blended eLearning tools implemented to support elementary students' reading achievement. The study is significant because fourth grade reading scores in the district have been declining over the past 2 years (TN Department of Education, n.d.). An examination of blended eLearning tools concerning academic achievement was warranted to fill a systematic analysis void in the local gap of practice. The findings in this study may help instructional technology leaders and teachers better understand how different blended learning programs meet the needs of suburban schools in increasing reading growth scores in their districts. The results may promote positive social change by helping educators make informed decisions about which supportive reading software programs may increase students' reading proficiency. This study may provide research evidence of useful blended eLearning reading tools to support the field of educational technology.

#### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

The independent variable for this quantitative study was the learning intervention with three levels: the control group with no intervention, IXL, and Reading Plus. I used TCAP TNReady reading growth scores to compare the differences between IXL and Reading Plus and the control group. The dependent variable was the 2018-2019 change in fourth grade students' reading achievement scores from their 2017-2018 third grade reading scores. The data were matched for the same student group from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019.

Research Question (RQ): Is there a statistically significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, district ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores?

 $H_0$ : There is no significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores.

 $H_1$ : There is a statistically significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores.

#### **Review of the Literature**

To remain current in research-based strategies to improve literacy achievement in a blended learning environment, I read current literature and several books. I conducted this literature review using the research databases available through the Walden University Library. The materials I examined throughout this literature review include peer-reviewed journal articles, books, conference presentations, and dissertations. The search engines and databases that I used included Education Research Complete, ERIC, Google Scholar, ProQuest, and ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. The keywords and phrases I used to search for these resources included *blended learning, blended*  eLearning tools, elementary reading software, adaptive practice software at the elementary level, differentiated instruction, computer-based reading instruction at the elementary level, IXL, Reading Plus, connectivism, and personalized learning.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

This study's theoretical framework was based on the theoretical constructs of Siemens's theory of connectivism. Connectivism has been declared the new learning theory for the digital age (Kop & Hill, 2008). According to Siemens (2005), technology has restructured the way people communicate, connect with others, and learn. Siemens posited that technology plays a vital role in creating a productive learning environment to reach all learners. Siemens argued that traditional learning theories such as behaviorism, cognitivism, and constructivism have limitations because they do not consider the impact technology has on learning. Existing theories no longer meet the needs of today's learners and anticipate the needs of future learners (Kop & Hill, 2008). Connectivism builds on older theories but takes into account new developments in technology that have occurred. According to Siemens, connectivism provides insight into the skills necessary for learners to flourish in the digital era.

In a 2005 blogsphere, Siemens and Downes initiated a new epistemology as a result of an abundance of information available on the internet and the possibility for people to connect through Web 2.0 technologies (Kop & Hill, 2008). According to Downes (as cited by Kop & Hill, 2008), knowledge is gained by the set of connections formed by actions and experience within a network. Siemens (2005) posited that knowledge resides in a distributed manner across a network, rather than in the mind of an

individual. Siemens recognized that people are social beings with a need to express thoughts, which requires externalization. It is through externalization that people construct new knowledge from distributed information across networks (Siemens, 2005).

The central tenet of connectivism is based on connections between learners, the environment, fields, ideas, and concepts to facilitate learning (Siemens, 2005). Siemens (2005) proposed eight principles of connectivism:

- Learning and knowledge rests in diversity of opinions.
- Learning is a process of connecting specialized nodes or information sources.
- Learning may reside in nonhuman appliances.
- Capacity to know more is more critical than what is currently known.
- Nurturing and maintaining connections is needed to facilitate continual learning.
- Ability to see connections between fields, ideas, and concepts is a core skill.
- Currency (accurate, up-to-date knowledge) is the intent of all connectivist learning activities.
- Decision-making is itself a learning process. Choosing what to learn and the meaning of incoming information is seen through the lens of a shifting reality.
  While there is a right answer now, it may be wrong tomorrow due to alterations in the information climate affecting the decision. (p. 8)

Today's students enter classrooms with a different mindset from a few years ago (Siemens, 2005). Technology has increased accessibility and information for learners to gain new knowledge, which forces educators to adapt their teaching methods to reach learners (Siemens, 2005). Siemens (2008) proposed that educators must assume the role of a master artist, network administrator, concierge, and curator, guiding students to a more profound knowledge base by creating learning resources that scaffold learning. Siemens postulated that learning activities should be active, shared, and constructed together (as cited in Picciano, 2017; Siemens, 2005, 2011). Learning with digital tools is made meaningful when aligned with state standards to scaffold learning and help students understand the subject matter better. In this research study, I focused on Siemens's principles that learning may reside in nonhuman appliances and accurate, up-to-date knowledge of learning activities. Upper elementary learners in the current study are working with software tools to increase reading cognition.

#### **Application of Connectivism Constructs in Elementary School Studies**

Connectivism was introduced by Siemens in 2004, resulting in the development of the first massive open online course at the University of Manitoba in 2008 (Downes, 2019). Since its development, the theory of connectivism has evolved and has become more understood, partly because technology integration in the educational setting has grown rapidly. According to Downes (2019), connectivism is a theory of knowledge and learning that applies technology to enhance and extend online interaction with peers.

Connectivism was developed as a theory to describe digital learning. However, researchers have applied the theory to classroom environments. In a meta-analysis, Downes (2019) reviewed 44 works of literature referencing connectivism. In his research, Downes discovered that the theory of connectivism was employed both online and in the classroom from the elementary setting through college, even in professional development studies. Rice (2018) asserted that connectivist learning strategies can be used to bridge the gap between the needs of digital natives and the traditional K to 12 educational setting. In a paper on implementing connectivism in the K to 12 classroom, Rice suggested five strategies including shifting from teacher-centered to student-centered learning, incorporating technology with readily available devices, never providing information to students that can easily access themselves, incorporating technology networks, and incorporating social networks among young learners. Although connectivism has been studied at the university setting for several years, it has not been studied at the elementary setting.

#### **Review of the Broader Problem**

Using technology to increase student achievement is not a new concept. Technology integration at the elementary level proves to have advantages and disadvantages. Researchers are discovering that increased technology integration at the elementary level may not prove to be the most beneficial method to increasing literacy achievement. The literature review is organized in themes of (a) reading in the upper elementary classroom, (b) differentiated instruction, (c) personalized learning, (d) blended learning at the elementary level, (e) computer-based reading instruction software, and (f) adaptive practice software.

#### **Reading Strategies in the Upper Elementary Classroom**

Proficient reading skills enable learners to successfully progress through their academic career and is a critical skill for lifelong learning. According to the NAEP, only 34% of Tennessee students are proficient or advanced readers by fourth grade (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). In order to address the urgency of helping students become proficient readers, educators need research-based strategies to guide their literacy curriculum. According to the National Reading Panel, a balanced literacy program includes instruction in phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, guided oral reading, independent silent reading, comprehension, and vocabulary (National Reading Panel & National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000; Rasinski, 2003). Through teacher education programs, preservice and practicing teachers receive training on how to approach each area of a balanced literacy program to increase literacy skills of young learners. In addition to teacher education, the National Reading Panel (2000) reported success in the use of computer programs for reading instruction. One approach that has gained momentum at the elementary level is using computer-assisted instruction and adaptive tutoring software in a blended learning environment (Staker & Horn, 2012; Wilkes et al., 2020).

#### **Differentiated Instruction**

Most educators use a differentiated instruction (DI) framework, despite the varied understanding, to support learning in the K to 12 setting to meet the diverse needs of students (Whitley et al., 2019). Whitley et al. (2019) conducted a mixed methods study with 4,875 teachers across 62 school districts who reported that DI practices influenced student achievement and engagement. Teachers who implemented DI practices were influenced by the grade level they taught; teachers in higher grades were less likely to implement DI. In addition, teachers who reported a belief in the efficacy of DI held broad epistemological beliefs that it is the responsibility of the teacher to design flexible instruction and assessment. Focus group participants reported using technology as a strategy to differentiate instruction for their learners. Teachers reported that organizational support contributed to DI beliefs and practice. With the large number of participants indicating they use technology as a strategy to differentiate instruction, it is important for organizations to select effective reading software programs and to provide guidance for teachers on how to utilize technology tools to meet the needs of students.

Despite research showing that DI increases student engagement and achievement, teachers have reported different obstacles that prevent them from implementing a DI framework in their classroom (Whitley et al., 2019). A mixed methods study conducted by Eysink et al. (2017) found 16 elementary teachers indicated different obstacles that impede implementing DI, including lack of organizational support, lack of time and materials, and lack of knowledge and skills. Teachers in the study who received training and materials to effectively implement DI in science instruction reported increased selfefficacy. Furthermore, teachers perceived an increase in student engagement in their classroom (Eysink et al., 2017). In addition to investigating teachers' perceptions, the researchers sought to explore the instructional value of DI by comparing the difference between 214 students who received DI in science and students who received a traditional approach to science instruction. The experimental group had 95 participants, and the control group had 119 participants. Results of an independent sample t test showed no significant difference between the control and experimental groups on the pretest. However, students in the experimental group who received DI for 12 weeks scored higher on the posttest with an effect size of d = .051 between the two groups.

Differentiating instruction for learners demands more time and resources on the part of the teachers. In recent years, teachers have been relying on technology to assist them in their efforts to differentiate for all learners, particularly in reading. Some studies have shown that technology-enhanced options for differentiating reading instruction have failed to impact student achievement. The results of a study conducted by Hill et al. (2016) revealed the effects of a computer-assisted program, Achieve3000, on reading fluency and comprehension among second and third grade students. Hill et al. found no statistically significant findings of the program increasing reading achievement of elementary students. The findings from the study raise concern for using computer-assisted literacy programs to support student reading growth. However, it is important to note that the implementation process among the 32 treatment schools (N = 14,493 students) was not considered in the study, calling into question the fidelity of implementation and appropriate student usage (Hill et al., 2016).

Although Hill et al. (2016) found that Achieve3000 did not have a positive impact on reading achievement in elementary students, other studies had differing results. For example, research results from computer-assisted literacy software showed mixed results in aiding teachers to increase elementary students' reading scores and differentiate instruction. Baron et al. (2019) conducted a quantitative study to examine the effects a technology-based reading program, Lexia Core5 Reading, which claims to accelerate the mastery of reading skills for students of all abilities in preschool through fifth grade. Lexia Core5 was implemented with 594 third grade students as a supplemental technology-based instructional program for one school year. The researchers used the assessment tool, AIMSweb, to classify students into four reader profiles: poor decoder, poor comprehender, mixed deficit, and typical reader. To monitor progress for reader profiles, students were tested in the fall before implementation of the reading program and in the spring. On the word reading subtest of the AIMSweb (R-CBM), all reader profiles made significant gains except the poor comprehenders. The Maze test results, which measure reading comprehension, showed a significant difference from the fall to the spring for all reader profiles. Students in the mixed deficit and poor comprehenders profiles increased significantly, though the poor decoders declined from the 52<sup>nd</sup> percentile in the fall to the 40<sup>th</sup> percentile in the spring. Results from the study indicated that a technology-based reading program can effectively differentiate instruction for most readers to increase reading skills (Baron et al., 2019).

Additionally, findings of a meta-analysis showed that student literacy achievement increased when teachers implemented DI using computer-adaptive software (Puzio et al., 2020). Reviewing over 20 years of literacy research, Puzio et al. (2020) found the overall effect size was +0.13 (p = .002) with 88% of the individual point estimates being positive, thus indicating that DI is an effective practice at the elementary level. Additionally, the researchers found that students have higher literacy achievement scores when the teachers receive organizational support (Puzio et al., 2020). Macaruso et al. (2020) affirmed that adaptive literacy software, Lexia Core5, used in a blended learning program in three elementary schools increased reading growth in 2217 kindergarten through fifth grade students. In a similar fashion, Prescott et al. (2018) conducted a study with 722 students who used Lexia Core5 in grades kindergarten through fifth grade as a part of a school-wide initiative. The researchers discovered that using a blended learning approach allowed teachers to use programs, like Lexia Core5, to differentiate literacy instruction to help students overcome reading deficiencies. The main effect size was the most significant with ELL students (Prescott et al., 2018). Additionally, Prescott et al. discovered that the online component of Lexia Core5 increased reading growth by .398 across all grade levels. The results of the studies conducted by Macaruso et al. and Prescott et al. showed that Lexia Core5 significantly increased reading growth scores in students across kindergarten through fifth grades at Title I schools, particularly those identified as ELL.

In addition to providing students with targeted skills practice, the use of technology-assisted computer programs offers assessment data to guide teachers in differentiating reading instruction for students. For instance, Förster et al. (2018) conducted a quantitative study to determine the short and long-term effects of teachers using computer-assisted assessment tools to monitor student progress to address individual needs on reading fluency and comprehension. The researchers analyzed reading scores for 619 third and fourth grade students placed in a treatment group or control group. Students in the treatment group were assessed eight times throughout the study. Teachers in the treatment group used the assessment data to differentiate reading instruction for students. The results of this study showed students in the treatment group showed a significant difference in reading skills with the effect size of d = .30 for short-term and d = .31 for long-term (Förster et al., 2018). Overall, reading growth was higher for students who scored lowest on the pretest. The results indicated that the use

of technology-assisted computer programs was an effective strategy to differentiate literacy instruction for all students, particularly low readers.

#### **Personalized Learning**

With virtual K to 12 schools emerging, course designers and educators are seeking methods to meet the needs of students with disabilities. Students with disabilities are guaranteed individualized instruction according to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (2004). Providing accessibility to the curriculum for students with disabilities puts great demands on educators in a virtual and blended environment. Students with disabilities often lack vocabulary and literacy skills to read complex texts (Rice, 2018). A qualitative study conducted by Rice (2018) found that course designers employ three strategies to promote accessibility and differentiate instruction, including composing clear articulations of learning objectives, promoting personalized and contextualized learning, and planning for visual and audio presentations.

One of the strategies of DI, personalized learning involves creating experiences in a computer-based environment that target student needs in an engaging way. Personalized learning in a computer-based environment involves creating experiences that target student needs in an engaging way and increases equity and accessibility for all students. Current research on personalized learning is showing promise in effectively supporting student learning (McCarthy et al., 2020).

Implementing personalized learning in the classroom involves creating individual learning paths with software systems based on student data, allowing personalized pacing with the objectives built into online modules, creating targeted skills grouping, and providing online adaptive content and assessment (Bingham, 2017). Bingham (2017) conducted a qualitative case study at a low-income high school to investigate how its high-tech, personalized learning model evolved. Through interviews, focus group discussions, and classroom observations of 13 teachers, Bingham discovered that teachers reported that students needed more self-regulation guidance. Also, teachers reported that a computer-based environment is not necessarily helpful for learning when student autonomy has not been developed. When given the freedom to choose their own learning path while using a learning management system, students chose what they preferred to learn, rather than what they needed. To promote autonomous learning, teachers implemented a "no excuses" model to emphasize structure, self-discipline, and to increase student accountability. By implementing more structure, teachers were able to scaffold student learning and allow self-pacing, thus increasing self-regulation among students. Findings from Bingham and McCarthy et al. (2020) showed the benefits of employing digital resources with digitally-created curriculums as a way to increase student achievement through personalized learning.

McCarthy et al. (2020) also recognized the need to help students self-regulate in a personalized learning environment. This longitudinal quantitative study furthers Bingham's (2017) findings by investigating the effectiveness of a strengths-based blended personalized learning (SBPL) model in supporting student learning in the areas of math, reading, and language usage among students in grades preK-8. The researchers evaluated the SBPL model over a four-year period to allow the school district time to implement the initiative. The school district consisted of approximately 3,900 students; 64% of students were socioeconomically disadvantaged and 60% of students were Hispanic. McCarthy et al. were interested in seeing how the initiative would impact student achievement and how the change occurred longitudinally. Using standardized assessment data, the researchers found the impact of the SBPL model were positive and significant for all subjects. Students in the treatment group outperformed students in the control group by 1.22 - 1.96 points, with an effect size ranging from 0.10 to 0.12, indicating a statistically significant difference between the two groups. Research results indicated the SBPL model incorporated an important feature of assessing and adapting student work to meet individual student needs. Strengths-based planning allowed students to be an active participant in the planning process, which further increased selfregulation.

Assessment-informed instruction may aid in implementing personalized instruction and increasing student learning. However, teachers often fail to use assessment data appropriately to tailor instruction for individual student needs (Connor, 2017). Connor (2017) conducted a longitudinal, randomized control trial study with 541 high-poverty students in kindergarten through third grade. Students received personalized literacy instruction, particularly in language, decoding, and comprehension. Forty teachers used a technology tool called Assessment-2-Instruction (A2i) to assist them in interpreting standardized assessment data to guide their instruction. A2i was designed to help teachers plan and implement both face-to-face learning and a type of computerassisted instruction called Individualizing Student Instruction (ISI). Research results indicated that A2i/ISI had an effect size of 0.77 between the treatment and control groups.

Furthermore, third grade students in the treatment group scored a fifth grade reading level on average, compared to the control group, who averaged a fourth grade reading level. Students who received A2i/ISI all three years scored 85 percent or above in reading, and only 6% received a standard score less than 90. While more than 25 percent of third grade students in the control group scored below 85 percent, indicating reading difficulties, students who received A2i/ISI scored 85 percent or above. The study results revealed that technology tools can be an effective method for using assessment data to create personalized learning opportunities for students.

Technology can also support personalized learning environments for learners with disabilities, as Basham et al. (2016) discovered. Using mixed methods, Basham et al. investigated the design of personalized learning environments during implementation. Participants included 6,500 K to 12 teachers and students, with 20% of the student population identified with learning disabilities. Basham et al. observed and interviewed instructional staff and students. Upon realizing that the district was nearly 1:1, the researchers noticed the district purchased various technology systems to support data collection for individualized, small group, and large group instruction. Basham et al. noted that there was visible evidence of student self-regulation and classroom and system-level data usage, which enabled teachers to plan targeted skills instruction for all students. Standardized test data indicated that both learners with and without learning disabilities increased for math and reading, with the effect size of 1.05. Research findings
showed that technology-based systems supported personalized learning and increased standardized test scores for learners with and without disabilities.

Implementing a personalized learning model poses challenges for schools. Bingham et al. (2018) conducted a qualitative study with 28 school principals and teachers to investigate structural and contextual sources of implementing technologymediated personalized learning. Similar to Basham et al. (2016), Bingham et al. used observational field notes and interviews to collect data. Analysis of the data showed inconsistencies between the attributes of the infrastructure and teacher preparation and practices which lagged behind the capabilities of the systems. While the schools' intentions were for the teachers to use personalized learning models for students to increase high stakes assessments, teachers felt they lacked training to use the software systems well. Administrators, teachers, and students acknowledged the value in personalized learning, but were hindered by the lack of systemic and structural supports.

Similarly, Kallio and Halverson (2020) conducted a qualitative study to investigate how leaders support educators and schools during curriculum redesign of core teaching and learning. The researchers interviewed leaders, academic coaches, teachers, students, and community members in 11 K to 12 schools representing a range of age, locale, size, and organizational structure. The researchers identified leadership strategies that supported teachers and learners including providing a variety of tools for technology systems. One consistent strategy employed by school leaders when implementing a new curriculum was implementing individualized learning systems, or idiosyncratic systems termed by Kallio and Halverson. Examples of idiosyncratic programs include adaptive learning software such as Achieve3000, DreamBox, IXL, and ALEKS Math. Utilizing adaptive software freed up the teachers to meet with students individually or in small groups. Bingham (2017) and Kallio and Halverson found that leaders concerned with implementing a personalized learning models need to fully understand the challenges of providing professional development and technology tools for educators and learners to completely engage in personalized learning.

## **Blended Learning Approach**

Blended learning integrates face-to-face instruction with online instruction (Horn & Staker, 2015). Using computers in the classroom has been used for decades. Since the evolution of technology use in the classroom, computers are being used by K to 12 students across the United States in various formats. I will discuss the historical and political contexts surrounding 21<sup>st</sup> century learning, and I will provide information on how blended learning is used in the elementary classroom.

# Historical and Political Contexts Surrounding Developing 21st Century Skills

To succeed in a rapidly changing global economy, educators across the nation have shifted teaching and learning to customize the educational experience for students to develop 21<sup>st</sup> century skills that prepare them for college and future careers. In a report, *A Nation at Risk*, the National Commission on Excellence in Education asserted American schools were failing which spurred leaders in education to reform the learning standards to better equip the nation's students for college and careers after high school (United States National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). In 2001, President George W. Bush implemented No Child Left Behind (NCLB; United States Department of Education, 2001). The NCLB law promised to increase the federal role to ensure all states would boost the performance and achievement of all students. With increased requirements on states and schools, NCLB touted students would be ready for the academic demands of their future (Klein, 2015).

In 2007, Barack Obama proposed a \$4.3 billion Race to the Top initiative as a way for states to boost achievement to overcome stagnant achievement scores (United States Department of Education, 2009). Obama's Race to the Top initiative awarded grants to states willing to embrace new educational approaches in implementing Common Core Standards, more rigorous state testing, technology integration, and teacher evaluations (United States Department of Education, 2009). In 2013, the United States Department of Education promoted utilizing technology in education to build 21<sup>st</sup>-century skills and accelerate learning (Project Tomorrow, 2013; United States Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology, 2017). In 2015, Obama signed Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) advancing educational equity, maintaining accountability for students and teachers, and supporting innovation in education (United States Department of Education, 2015). Recently, the 2018 Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) Worldwide Ranking reported U.S. 15-year-olds fell below the level of students in other industrialized nations, ranking 25<sup>th</sup> out of 78 nations (National Research Council, 2018). Despite the varied levels of rigor and innovation, educational leaders continue to search for ways to strengthen student achievement.

# Blended Learning at the Elementary Level

With the rapid adoption of 1:1 devices among elementary schools, teachers have developed new methods for delivering course material. Through a blended learning approach, educators personalize education to meet the individual needs of students. Horn and Fisher (2017) defined blended learning as combining face-to-face instruction with online learning. Blended learning classrooms are more student centered and allow teachers the opportunity to leverage their time more efficiently (Moore et al., 2017). Blended learning also provides the opportunity to increase student-teacher and studentstudent interaction, as well as for teachers to assess student learning more effectively. The Clayton Christensen Institute (2016) identified four models of blended learning: station rotation model, flex model, a la carte model, and enriched virtual model. Of the four blended learning models, the station rotation is the fastest growing model among elementary schools (Horn & Fisher, 2017). In the station model, educators use stations to differentiate instruction with greater precision using the aid of technology-assisted programs. The station rotation model suits the elementary classroom since it is a natural approach to hands-on learning with traditional learning centers. Using blended learning in the K to 12 setting is a fairly new pedagogical approach and there is not a vast amount of research at the elementary level or with ELLs.

Since blended learning is a fairly new pedagogical approach at the elementary level, Moore et al. (2017) saw the need for professional development among teachers. The authors designed a 16-week professional development program for preservice and inservice teachers, called Mastering the Blend, which helped K to 12 educators enhance face-to-face instruction by implementing a variety of technology tools in a blended learning environment. The program's aim was to help teachers develop skills needed to design, develop, and facilitate student-centered learning. Moore et al. later conducted an evaluation of the program by asking participants to complete a survey and write a blog about their reflections of blended learning and their growth throughout the training. Moore et al. used the iNACOL Blended Learning Teacher Competency framework to guide their interpretations of teachers' attitudes and perceptions about blended learning. Findings indicated the participants gained a better understanding of the importance for group interactivity and the need to build relationships among peers before initiating collaborative assignments. Participants reported that the Mastering the Blend program helped them gain the most instructional design skills. Overall, Moore et al. reported that teachers' perceptions and attitudes about blended learning increased by the end of the professional development program.

Since Moore et al. (2017) reported that teachers were better able to manage their time through blended learning, D'Agostino and Kowalski (2018) conducted a qualitative study to further investigate teachers' knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions of their schools before and after implementing a blended learning program. The pilot program focused on five components: DI, blended learning, data-driven instruction, teacher PLCs, and instructional coaching. D'Agostino and Kowalski conducted paired sample t-tests to analyze survey data from 33 teachers in five private schools. Teacher knowledge and attitudes toward program components showed significant differences between before and after implementation with medium to large effect sizes. Specifically, teachers reported high levels of satisfaction due to the ability to use data to differentiate instruction and increase student autonomy and active learning. Research findings from D'Agostino and Kowalski agreed with Moore et al. that teachers are better able to manage their time and are better equipped to differentiate instruction for students through using a blended learning approach rather than a traditional face-to-face approach.

Turner et al. (2018) took their research in a different direction, working to determine differences in perceptions and attitudes of various grade spans about the benefits of blended learning. The researchers used quantitative measures to analyze survey results of 460 K to 12 public school teachers' perceptions of the benefits of blended learning for instructional delivery and student production. The majority of the participants (54%) were elementary teachers. Findings indicated that elementary teachers have a positive perception of blended learning as a means to increase student engagement and achievement. In addition, study results indicated a significant positive correlation between teachers' perceptions of the benefits of blended learning and their use of the approach for instructional delivery (Turner et al., 2018).

These studies provide clear evidence that blended learning is useful to teachers; additional studies reviewed benefits for students (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Moore et al., 2017; Turner et al., 2018). Coll and Treagust (2017) conducted a qualitative case study to analyze a blended learning approach to determine the benefit on student learning outcomes. The blended learning program, called Learning Experiences Outside School (LEOS), was established to increase student engagement during and after school. The researchers conducted interviews and observations with 11 teachers who used Moodle for their learning management system. The teachers reported using Moodle as a means to increase student collaboration and communication. Through these interviews and observations, Coll and Treagust found that Moodle had a positive influence on students' attitudes. In addition, results from an internal student assessment indicated that blended learning promoted better learning outcomes. Coll and Treagust asserted that using Moodle helped motivate students and linked learning to the real world by increasing a social presence in the classroom.

In a meta-analysis review of technology-enhanced language learning, Ledesma and Sandoval (2017) found that blended learning benefitted teachers and students with flexibility and independence, resulting in increased motivation and positive learning attitudes. The use of technology in literacy instruction showed promise for enhancing instruction and learning attitudes. Ledesma and Sandoval also advocated for careful planning and selection of technology tools.

Pace and Mellard (2016) added to Coll and Treagust's qualitative data on the blended learning and student achievement. The researchers evaluated the effects of a blended learning approach versus a traditional face-to-face approach in an ELA course for 495 sixth grade students, focusing on gender status, disability status, and student reading efficacy. The research results indicated that the treatment group outperformed the control group (students who received a traditional face-to-face approach) in reading achievement as measured by the Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) MAP assessment, indicating that a blended learning approach may have greater effect on reading achievement that a traditional face-to-face approach. To investigate the benefits blended learning may have on reading, Terrazas-Arellanes et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study to examine content-specific assessment scores in middle school students. The researchers analyzed scores for 1,876 sixth grade students as a whole and by subgroups (ELLs, students with learning disabilities, and general education students) to determine the effect Project ESCOLAR (E-text Supports for Collaborative Online Learning and Academic Reading) had on science scores. Findings indicated PBL-based collaborative online learning units increased science knowledge for middle school ELLs, SWLDs, and general education students due to the amount of language support and scaffolding provided on an individual level. The study's findings indicated that the use of E-texts support individual student reading in content areas.

Selecting effective software programs for independent student practice needs more consideration in the elementary classroom. Schechter et al. (2015) explored the need for intentionally selecting blended learning programs to meet students' needs during literacy independent work time. In a quantitative study, the authors examined the effects of using Lexia Core 5, a blended learning program, on low-SES first and second grade students throughout one school year. Forty-seven students in the treatment group received Core5, which was both teacher-led and technology-based, and 41 students in the control group received the same reading instruction without the blended learning component. While both groups showed gains, the treatment group showed moderate gains in vocabulary and significant gains in comprehension with an effect size of .52. Schechter et al. conducted further analysis of the ELL students' performance, showing the treatment group gained more than one standard deviation from below the norm mean to above the norm mean, indicating ELL students showed the most growth during the treatment period. By the end of the study, ELL students in the treatment group closed the achievement gap and scored identically to non-ELL students in the control group. Schechter et al. maintained that blended learning can be an effective approach to reinforce reading skills of low-SES and ELL students.

To further Schechter et al.'s (2015) investigation on Core5, Prescott et al. (2018) used a quantitative approach to examine a school-wide implementation of a Lexia Reading Core5 in a Title I urban school for Grades K to 5. Reading performance of 641 students was tested before and after the study using the Group Reading Assessment and Diagnostic Evaluation (GRADE). Seventy percent of the students from the participating school qualified for free/reduced lunch and 18.4% of the students were ELLs. Pretest and posttest results using GRADE indicated that all students gained in reading skills, especially students in early grades. According to Prescott et al., 26.6% of reading growth correlated with the number of levels of Core5 students completed. Students in kindergarten, first, and second grades showed significantly higher reading growth than students in upper elementary grades. In addition, student gains were found to be similar across various types of students. Based on Schechter et al. and Prescott et al.'s studies, a blended learning approach can provide supportive benefits for students with diverse backgrounds, including students from low-SES or ELLs.

Macaruso et al. (2020) sought to investigate more participants to expand the results from Schechter et al. (2015) and Prescott et al. (2018). Macaruso et al. examined

the effects of blended learning as a form of reading instruction in kindergarten through fifth grade classrooms in six schools. The six schools used Wonders, a packaged reading curriculum and Reading Plus, an online supplemental software program. Treatment schools implemented Core5 to supplement the ELA curriculum. Prior to implementation of Core5, 2,217 students in the treatment schools performed significantly lower than 1,504 students in the control schools. Students in all six schools completed the NWEA MAP reading test in the fall 2016 and spring 2017. Study results revealed a significant effect size of 14.8 in the treatment group, indicating higher reading achievement for students who received blended learning in addition to the traditional reading program. Students in the treatment school with the highest number of students receiving free/reduced lunch gained 13.70 points, which exceeded the whole treatment group gains (13.61). Findings about Core5 showed that blended learning is an effective approach for literacy growth for all students, especially those in lower income schools (Macaruso et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015).

Similar to Schechter et al. (2015) and Prescott et al. (2018), Wilkes et al. (2020) examined Core5 with a larger participant pool of kindergarten and first grade students. Wilkes et al. measured the impact Core5 had on early literacy growth and addressed previous limitations by increasing the sample size and including control students. In a quasi-experimental design, Wilkes et al. compared 283 treatment students with 237 control students in an urban school district using traditional instruction. The sample included 16.1% in special education (SPED), 49.7% classified as ELLs, and 80.5% qualified for free/reduced lunch. All students in the study were given a pretest using a Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) common reading assessment. Study results indicated treatment students scored significantly higher on the spring DIBELS than students in the control group, with standard error of 8.45. The results indicated Core5 contributed to reading gains for the students in the treatment group. Like previous studies conducted on Lexia Core5, Wilkes et al. found that utilizing a blended learning approach outweighed traditional instruction alone.

Results from elementary schools that implement blended learning revealed the significant impact on reading achievement for all students, including ELLs and lowincome schools. Studies showed that teachers were better able to differentiate instruction and leverage their time to meet with small groups and individual students (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Pace & Mellard, 2016; Terrazas-Arellanes et al., 2017). Additionally, blended learning increased student attitudes, motivation, and engagement (Coll & Treagust, 2017; Ledesma & Sandoval, 2017; Turner et al., 2018). Despite these gains, Ledesma and Sandoval (2017) noted that blended learning programs must be carefully selected to ensure students' individual needs are met. The most widely studied blended learning program, Lexia Core5, showed increased reading achievement in elementary students (Macaruso et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015; Wilkes et al., 2020).

## **Computer-Assisted Reading Instruction**

Although there is a limited base of research on using computer-assisted learning software to target reading delays, the results showed positive effects of closing achievement gaps in elementary learners. To investigate the use of computer-based interventions with elementary students, Messer and Nash (2018) conducted a randomized control trial study to determine the effect of computer-based reading programs on the reading achievement of elementary students. Six schools participated in the study for 10 months with 78 students identified as needing additional support due to poor reading progress. Assigned to randomly selected experimental and control groups, students in the experimental group received 45 minutes per week of online tutorials using a multimedia Trainertext phonics program (Messer & Nash, 2018). At the beginning of the intervention, both groups of students were reading far below average. After the intervention, the experimental group had mean scores close to average. The effect size between pre- and posttest was 0.80, indicating the intervention was effective in increasing standardized test scores. A comparison of reading gains between groups revealed the intervention group had significantly higher gains in reading, thus showing Trainertext can be beneficial intervention strategies for students needing additional support in reading.

Trainertext was not the only computer-assisted intervention that was found successful. Brinson (2019) conducted a qualitative study to gain insight into third grade teachers' views on the reading intervention program Achieve3000 to improve reading achievement in Floridian students. While scores were not tracked, coded teacher interviews and focus group responses showed teachers felt Achieve3000 was a useful resource to increase reading proficiency, prepare students for state assessments, and allow teachers to differentiate assignments for various ability levels.

Rather than focusing on teachers' views of reading software programs, Kaman and Ertem (2018) conducted a mixed-method study to gain insight of student perceptions. The researchers analyzed results from a survey they created called, Error Analysis Inventory, Reading Comprehension Scale, and Reading Attitude Scale. The researchers interviewed 30 fourth grade students in four primary schools to investigate the effects of digital text readings on reading comprehension, fluency, and attitude. Quantitative results indicated that students showed long-term improvement in reading fluency, but only shortterm effects on comprehension; qualitative results indicated that students were eager and excited about reading digital texts.

Similar to Kaman and Ertem's (2018) findings of increased fluency from reading digital texts, Bennett et al. (2017) sought to examine the effects of a supplemental computer software program to enhance oral reading fluency and comprehension. The researchers studied second grade, African American urban students who showed reading and special education risk. The supplemental program used culturally relevant material delivered through computer-assisted instruction (CAI) to offer repeated reading instruction. Based on AIMSweb data, all participants who received the treatment intervention reached their fluency criterion of 60 correct words per minute (CWPM), which was slightly higher than the benchmark goal set by DIBELS Next. At the conclusion of the intervention, Bennett et al. interviewed students and teachers to get their perspective of the program. Students indicated a preference for reading on the computer and a desire to continue. In addition, students felt more competent at reading stories on paper. Teachers also reported an increase in students' fluency. Teachers' responses supported reading intervention programs for struggling readers in primary grades.

Expanding on primary grade findings about computer-assisted literacy instruction, Storey et al. (2020) conducted a comparative study to examine the effects of a computerized supplemental literacy program, Headsprout Early Reading (HER). This program, along with Special Education Needs Coordinator (SENCO), delivered supplemental literacy program for students with below average scores on standardized reading tests. Participants were randomly selected to either the HER (n = 17) or SENCOdelivered (n = 15). After a 7-month intervention period, students pre- and posttreatment assessment scores showed students in the HER group scored significantly higher for word/non-word recognition (d = 0.96), sentence reading (d = 1.53), and Dolch sight words (d = 2.65). The researchers' results found that Headsprout provided struggling readers with an effective intervention program to increase early literacy skills (Storey et al., 2020).

Like Headsprout, Study Island is a literacy skills program that targets more advanced reading skills for older students. Mitchell (2018) conducted a quantitative study to determine the impact Study Island had on third grade Illinois Standards Achievement Test (ISAT) reading scores for 316 students at an elementary school. Results from archival data indicated a significant difference in reading scores before and after the implementation of Study Island, with more considerable significance between year one and year three.

In a mixed-methods study, Stork et al. (2018) examined the efficacy of digital activities and tools. Specifically, the researchers studied the impact that digital activities and tools had on literacy achievement at a literacy festival for students in grades one

through eight. Through interviews and surveys, the researchers discovered that students and teachers perceived using digital tools as a way to increase motivation, engagement, creativity, and collaboration, leading to increased student achievement.

## Adaptive Practice Software

Educational software is now expanding into programs that offer students more personalized and individualized access to educational curriculum. Intelligent tutoring systems, computer programs that personalize learning for students, guide students through the learning process, targeting additional practice in areas where students have learning gaps. Adaptive CAI has the ability to adjust the starting point and the path a student takes with the learning material (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Kolchenko, 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Shamir et al., 2017). Researchers recognized that CAI programs feature different strengths (Shamir et al., 2018). Several studies demonstrated that the use of adaptive computer-based software can be effective in increasing reading skills in elementary students (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Shamir et al., 2017, 2018; Xu et al., 2019).

In a meta-analysis of 19 peer-reviewed studies comprising approximately 10,000 students, Xu et al. (2019) examined the effectiveness of intelligent tutoring systems (ITS) compared to traditional K to 12 instruction on improving reading comprehension. Although the use of ITS produced a small effect size when compared to human tutoring, the overall effect size on reading comprehension was 0.60, indicating a large effect size. When compared to traditional reading instruction, the findings of the meta-analysis indicated that ITS produced greater gains than a traditional approach to literacy instruction with an effect size of 0.86, indicating higher reading comprehension levels with the use of ITS.

Kazakoff et al. (2018) conducted a two-year quantitative study to examine whether Lexia Core5 Reading, supported improved reading development. The researchers studied both ELLs and non-ELLs in 64 K-5 elementary schools. AIMSweb results showed gains for all students in kindergarten, second, third, fourth, and fifth grades. The first grade ELLs outperformed non-ELLs in reading gains, demonstrating a possible method for closing a skills gap between ELLs and non-ELLs.

In a longitudinal study, Macaruso et al. (2020) extended Prescott et al.'s (2018) research design by exploring the impact Lexia Core5 Reading had on low-SES kindergarten students. Macaruso et al. sought to determine the program's impact on summer slide, measuring standardized reading scores from the spring of one school year to the fall of the next school year. Reading performance was assessed using GRADE instrument in the spring and fall of 68 students' kindergarten, first, and second grade years (Macaruso et al., 2020). Teachers in the district used Daily 5 as the framework for ELA instruction. In addition, Core5 was implemented as an adaptive online component during literacy centers. Students' performances on the GRADE showed significant reading gains overall, despite a slight decline each fall, indicating evidence of summer slide. The main effect size over the course of three years was 3.471, demonstrating the longitudinal impact Core5 had on reading gains of elementary students.

Shamir et al. (2017) examined the early literacy computerized adaptive software program named the Waterford Early Reading program (ERP), which targets early reading

concepts of kindergarten and first grade students. Shamir et al.'s quantitative study determined the impact of the Waterford ERP had in addition to an existing reading curriculum for three elementary schools. Placed in three sample groups, each group used the program for different amounts of time throughout the school year ranging from 600 minutes to more than 1,000 minutes. First grade students took the STAR (Standardized Test for the Assessment of Reading) early literacy assessments at the beginning, middle, and end of the year. Kindergarten students took the DIBELS reading assessment. Findings revealed a significant difference between treatment and control groups in both grade levels, indicating greater gains for students who used the Waterford ERP than for students who did not (Shamir et al., 2017). In addition, students who used Waterford ERP for more than the 1,000 recommended minutes had higher gains than those who used the program less. Shamir et al. concluded that Waterford ERP is an effective method for teaching early literacy skills to K to 1 students.

Shamir et al. (2018) extended their previous research on this adaptive computerassisted instruction program. In another study, the researchers examined the impact Waterford ERP had on 3,247 kindergarten and first grade students' reading skills. Analysis of the Texas Primary Reading Inventory assessment revealed students who used Waterford ERP scored significantly higher in six out of eleven literacy strands, including letter name identification (d = 0.74), letter to sound linking (d = 0.51), inferring word meaning (d = 0.34), linking details (d = 0.49), recalling details (d = 0.30), and listening comprehension (d = 0.58). Further examination of the effects of Waterford ERP curriculum and student demographics revealed higher gains in ELL students, indicating the potential of Waterford ERP to close the achievement gap between ELL and non-ELL students. Overall, findings further supported the claim that adaptive CAI programs improve reading skills more than traditional classroom instruction (Shamir et al., 2018).

Luo et al.'s (2017) also supported the effectiveness of the adaptive CAI program called IStation. Using mixed-methods with three teachers and 98 students, Luo et al. explored the impact IStation had on third grade reading improvement scores as measured by the STAR reading test and IStation scaled scores. IStation was implemented schoolwide to supplement the regular literacy instruction to assess deficits in phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension. Students received individualized remediation in areas of deficit, as indicated on the beginning assessment. Results from the STAR test indicated an increase in reading scores from September to January for students in Tier 1, 2, and 3. The correlation between the IStation scaled scores and STAR scores was shown to be highly significant, indicating that IStation has a positive effect on STAR scores (Luo et al., 2017). Survey results also revealed an increase in motivation among students. Furthermore, teachers perceived IStation to have a positive effect on improving reading comprehension.

Similar to the assessment feature in IStation, many adaptive computer-based software programs have built-in assessments to pinpoint student reading deficits, which guides teachers in planning individual instruction and intervention for students. Mitchell et al. (2018) conducted two studies to assess the validity of Lexia Core5's embedded performance measures of Assessment Without Testing (AWT) with MAP and Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium (SBAC). There was a significant correlation between AWT and MAP as well as between AWT and SBAC; both correlations falling in the medium (.4 - .6) range. Research results indicated Core5's AWT is a valid assessment to estimate students' ability to reach end-of-year benchmark targets. Mitchell et al. (2018) discovered AWT technology gathered student performance data without requiring a separate testing event, was easily implemented, and served as a criterion- and norm-referenced assessment data, thus helping teachers maximize their time during classroom instruction.

In addition to helping teachers maximize their time, adaptive software helped teachers quickly identify students who needed more intervention or scaffolding. Sutter et al. (2020) investigated the predictability of an adaptive computer-based reading assessment for measuring second grade students' reading achievement on standardized tests including IStation's Indicators of Progress for Early Reading (ISIP-ER) and STAR. Analysis of 428 second grade students' scores indicated a strong correlation between the scores on the December ISIP-ER assessment and the end-of-year STAR reading scores, with an effect size of .67. Research results indicated computerized adaptive tests may be used to predict end-of-year reading scores and to identify students at risk, thus offering teachers the opportunity to intervene and adjust instruction accordingly prior to state mandated high-stakes standardized tests (Sutter et al., 2020).

### Implications

The purpose of this project study was to examine the impact two different blended eLearning tools have on TNReady TCAP scores of fourth grade students. By analyzing the state assessment data of the treatment schools and control school, I gained insight into the effectiveness of the implemented programs. The findings of the data collection and analysis will guide administrators, technology leaders, and teachers on possible solutions to improving literacy skills of upper elementary students. After completing this project study, I will share the information gathered with district administrators and curriculum coaches to explain my findings. The information gathered will also be shared with colleagues in district-level and school-level committee meetings and professional conversations. District technology coaches and reading coaches can purchase software for the entire district that aligns to supporting all upper elementary students' reading achievement.

## Summary

The literature confirms that using literacy software programs in blended learning classrooms has benefits and increases student achievement (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Kolchenko, 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Mitchell, 2018; Prescott et al., 2018; Shamir et al., 2017; Storey et al., 2020). Educators are better able to meet the needs of individual learners by allowing technological tools to aid in assessing student performance, providing real-time data, supporting student learning, and planning for whole group and small group instruction (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Mitchell et al., 2018; Pace & Mellard, 2016; Terrazas-Arellanes et al., 2017). Moreover, students in blended learning classrooms are more motivated and engaged, thus increasing achievement (Bennett et al., 2017; Kaman & Ertem, 2018; Stork et al., 2018).

To differentiate instruction in reading, teachers often meet with small groups of students during literacy stations. In a blended learning classroom, teachers are better able to maximize their time by using literacy software programs to support student learning while meeting with small groups of students (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Pace & Mellard, 2016; Sutter et al., 2020; Terrazas-Arellanes et al., 2017). Using supportive resources, like CAI and adaptive software programs, targets student performance with real-time feedback. Adaptive software programs can mimic human tutoring by scaffolding learning and providing a sequence of content each student needs to progress (Xu et al., 2019). Using adaptive learning software personalizes struggling students' learning experience and advanced students (Basham et al., 2016). Research shows adaptive software programs can increase student achievement and has the potential to close the achievement gap, particularly with low-SES and ELL students.

The literature reflects qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods studies that investigated using blended eLearning tools to increase reading achievement (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015; Shamir et al., 2018; Wilkes et al., 2020). While there is evidence of adaptive software increasing reading achievement at the elementary level, there is limited research on how blended eLearning tools, such as IXL and Reading Plus, affect reading achievement and upper elementary students' growth. More investigation is needed to better understand whether literacy software programs benefit upper elementary students. In Section 2, I will discuss the methodology of the study, the research design and approach, the setting and sample, instrumentation and materials, data collection and analysis, assumptions, limitations, scope and delimitations, and protection of participants' rights.

# Section 2: The Methodology

### **Research Design and Approach**

The methodology is the researcher's approach to answer the RQs (Burkholder et al., 2016; Butin, 2010). The methodology provides a foundation and procedures for conducting social research (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). For this study, a quantitative quasi-experimental design was employed. Like an experimental design, a quasi-experimental design compares groups scores on a dependent variable but lacks the randomized assignment of a pure experimental design (Burkholder et al., 2016). According to Ary et al. (2006), quasi-experimental research is appropriate in an educational setting because it is not ethically possible to assign students to a treatment group. A quasi-experimental design was the best choice for this study because I reached a reasonable conclusion even though I did not have full control of the participants' groups (see Ary et al., 2006).

The research design provides researchers with a framework offering detailed plans for answering the RQs (Burkholder et al., 2016; Butin, 2010). The design serves as a guide for the researcher throughout different research stages, including collecting, organizing, analyzing, and interpreting the data (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Thomas (2017) asserted that researchers should choose a research design appropriate to the RQ. In a qualitative study, researchers gather feelings and opinions through observations, surveys, and photographs (Butin, 2010; Golafshani, 2003). Quantitative research is about collecting numerical data to answer RQs and hypotheses (Burkholder et al., 2016; Thomas, 2017). Quantitative research methods are used to compute the relationships between research variables (Babbie, 2017; Thomas, 2017). I used a quantitative quasi-experimental approach using a one-way ANCOVA on the score gains (change) with the beginning scores as one of the covariates. To answer the RQs of this study, I used quantitative methods to pinpoint the amount of growth students show from TCAP TNReady data as a result of using different eLearning tools.

For the research evaluation design, I conducted a project study in the policy recommendation genre because I looked at the impact two blended eLearning software tools had on reading scores, using archival data. Archived relevant data were available and were used in this quantitative quasi-experimental design study. Data for the current study were examined from one point in time (2017-2018) to another (2018-2019). The TCAP TNReady test is administered in April each school year. The selected years were the most valid and current test scores available. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, schools were not in session during the testing period for the 2019-2020 school; therefore, no test data were available. I used archived matched data sets from the April 2018 TCAP TNReady reading assessment to the April 2019 TCAP TNReady reading assessment. The chosen covariates selected for this study were sex, ELA yearly averages, and the third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. Based on the literature review, I discovered that boys often tend to score lower in reading achievement than girls (see Pace & Mellard, 2016). Therefore, sex was included as my first covariate. According to Frankfort-Nachmias and Leon-Guerrero (2018), extraneous variables occur naturally and can cause changes in the dependent variable; as such, they must be controlled to determine the effect the independent variable has on the dependent variable. Students' ELA yearly averages could cause changes in reading test scores. Therefore, ELA yearly averages were included as a covariate to help me determine the impact the treatment may have on students' test scores. The final covariate, third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores, was chosen to help me have more robust research findings (see Burkholder et al., 2016).

Using a quasi-experimental research evaluation design is consistent with research in educational technology to advance the knowledge of effective blended eLearning reading software programs. I examined the difference of TCAP TNReady ELA scores between three groups (control, IXL, and Reading Plus) after a 1-year implementation of a blended eLearning literacy program. Implementation of the interventions was a site-based decision made by the teachers and administrators at each school. Because the interventions were implemented before this study, I evaluated the impact the software programs had on TCAP TNReady reading scores by using archival data. Although 2018-2019 was the first year of implementation at the school level, this study may support IXL or Reading Plus's implementation at the district level. The purpose of this quasiexperimental study was to study the difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between IXL and Reading Plus, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores.

#### **Setting and Sample**

Population is the group of all the individuals, objects, or groups in which the researcher is interested (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). According to Thomas (2017), researchers can learn about a population by studying a sample and generalizing from the sample to the whole population. The target population for my study

was three Title I elementary schools in Upper East Tennessee. Pseudonyms were used for the names of the schools in the current study. In the 2017-2018 school year, North Ridge School served 235 students, where 51.1% were White, 31.9% were Black/African American, 15.7% were Hispanic, 10.2% were ELL, 16.2% were students with disabilities, and 61.7% were economically disadvantaged. In the 2017-2018 school year, South View School served 344 students. Of the population, 64.8% were White, 14% were African American, 18.6% were Hispanic, 10.2% were ELL, 14.2% were students with disabilities, and 42.7% were economically disadvantaged. In the 2017-2018 school year, Woodmont School served 388 students. Of the population, 65% were White, 6% were African American, 21% were Hispanic, 14% were ELL, 15.8% were students with disabilities, and 63% were economically disadvantaged.

My study's target population size was approximately 150 fourth graders in 2017-2018 from three elementary schools in a southeastern school district. The approximate population size is 50 students per school. To determine the minimum sample size, I conducted an a priori power analysis using the statistical software G\*Power, Version 3.1.9.7 (see Faul et al., 2009). Assuming the medium effect size (f = .50),  $\alpha = .05$ , and two predictor variables, the result of the G\*Power Analysis (Figure 2) suggested a minimum sample size of 107 participants total to achieve a power of .95. The following graphic demonstrates that with a sample size of 150, the study met the sample size requirements of the power at the .05 level.

# Figure 2

### Power Analysis



# **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

Sampling is the method of selecting participants for a study (Thomas, 2017). The convenience and purposeful sampling approach was used for selecting participants for this study. According to Babbie (2017), purposeful sampling is appropriate to use when the researcher is knowledgeable about the research population and its elements. Patton (2015) asserted that selecting participants using a purposeful sampling strategy allows researchers to focus on quality information to answer the research questions. Thomas (2017) added that in purposive sampling, the researcher investigates a population of interest but has no affiliation to the group. Convenience sampling is used when a

researcher wants to study a population with easy access to provide insight into the group (Babbie, 2017).

I examined the TCAP TNReady ELA test scores of fourth grade students from North Ridge School, South View School, and Woodmont School (pseudonyms) that are stored in the school district's student information service database, PowerSchool. The TCAP TNReady ELA test scores were generated in April 2018 and April 2019. The students' scores on the third grade TCAP ELA assessment were paired with their fourth grade TCAP ELA assessment scores. For anonymity, I received the data with student identifiers instead of names. Transient students who had incomplete data were excluded from the study.

This study's treatment schools were selected because they had similar demographics and used IXL Reading and Reading Plus blended learning reading software programs for literacy support. The control school, Woodmont School, was selected because the school had similar demographics and state report card scores as the two treatment schools in years 2017-2018 and 2018-2019. The control school did not use any form of blended learning programs for reading. The projected sample of this study was approximately 50 fourth grade students from North Ridge School, 50 students from South View School, and 50 students from Woodmont School in a southeastern school district in 2017-2018. I selected this sample because they were given the TCAP ELA third grade assessment in 2016-2017 and the TCAP ELA fourth grade assessment in 2017-2018. The treatment schools were selected based on their use of one of two blended learning reading programs during the 2017-2018 school year, IXL or Reading Plus. There were no other schools in the district using the two blended learning programs that met the criteria. To equate the groups, the third grade TCAP TNReady ELA score was used as a covariate to find comparisons and ensure homogeneity between the three groups.

## Adaptive, Blended Learning Reading Intervention/Treatment

The school district where this study was conducted allowed schools to make decisions of which blended learning programs would best supplement their reading curriculum based on their own needs. Because site-based decisions were made at the schools in my study, I examined two different supplemental literacy programs at two Title I elementary schools and used one Title I elementary school as the control group.

Administrators and fourth grade teachers at South View selected Reading Plus as their blended learning program. Administrators and fourth grade teachers at North Ridge selected IXL as their blended learning program. Both schools were looking for programs that could be used in their blended learning classrooms where students had access to their own laptop devices. The software programs were used as supplemental support to the primary literacy curriculum during literacy centers. All schools in the southeastern school district used *Journeys* (Baumann, 2014) for their reading textbook adoption, which did not offer an integrated technology component. Fourth grade teachers were concerned about increasing student TCAP TNReady achievement and growth scores, so they investigated ways to differentiate instruction. Teachers were looking for ways to use technology to aid in individualizing independent reading practice. Teachers and administrators chose Reading Plus and IXL because they offered personalized learning opportunities for students, diagnostics, and instant feedback for teachers to monitor progress. Both schools implemented the programs in August 2018 and used them for the 2018-2019 school year. Fourth grade students at both schools only used the software programs at school.

Taylor created the online version of Reading Plus in the early 2000s (Reading Plus, 2020). Reading Plus (2020) provided support for building fluency in silent reading, vocabulary development in context, decoding, extensive reading, and comprehension enhancement. Reading Plus was redesigned by reading researchers to include a component to increase student motivation. South View School teachers selected Reading Plus for its ability to personalize instruction through adaptive practice. During the 2018-2019 school year, South View School was the only elementary school in the district to use Reading Plus.

Similarly, North Ridge School needed a supplemental program for students to use for independent practice in their blended learning classrooms. North Ridge School chose IXL because it targeted ELA, math, science, and social studies. Formerly known as Quia Web, IXL algorithmically generated questions to provide students with targeted practice to increase critical thinking (IXL Learning, 2021). IXL provided teachers with real-time feedback on student progress. Teachers and administrators at North Ridge School identified IXL as a program to implement because IXL also offered textbook alignments with their reading and math textbook adoption. Students were given a diagnostic assessment to determine their reading level at the beginning of the intervention. North Ridge School implemented IXL in August 2018 and used it during the 2018-2019 school year. Reading Plus and IXL were paid for by the school district where the study was conducted. Walden University did not sponsor the intervention programs.

# **Instrumentation and Materials**

Questar developed the TCAP TNReady test from 2016-2019 (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-a). TCAP TNReady ELA assessment was a criterionreferenced, standards-based assessment given to students in Grades 3 to 8 during a 2week testing window between April to May each school year. The timed standardized test included ELA, math, science, and social studies. The ELA portion of the test included four subparts that required students to read closely, analyze text, answer text-dependent questions, provide a written response to a prompt, and demonstrate command of the English language (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-a).

Administered annually, the TCAP TNReady test evaluated students' understanding of written expression, conventions, reading comprehension for literature, reading comprehension for informational text, and vocabulary. The four subparts totaled 48 to 84 items, allowing 216 minutes in total. Items on the TCAP TNReady test included multiple-choice questions, text-evidence selected responses, multiple select items, writing prompts, and editing tasks (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-b). The Tennessee Department of Education released all testing times for the assessment. Students with Individual Education Plans and 504 Plans received extended time for each assessment.

The test questions undergo a thorough four-step evaluation process to ensure the reliability and validity of the TCAP TNReady test. Vendor consultants from Educational Testing Service (ETS) write test items that align with Tennessee state standards. After the

test items are written based on the state specifications, the Tennessee Educator Item Review process occurs where items are reviewed for content and bias. The committees are comprised of educators, administrators, supervisors, and counselors represented by grade level or grade bands. Committee members can accept test items, revise, or reject items. After that, ETS reviews and revises items based on feedback from the Content and Bias committees. Once revisions have been made, the test questions are field-tested and reviewed for validity. According to ETS (2012), once validity is established, test items are added to the operational assessment, then reviewed by the Tennessee Department of Education. The final step is administering the assessment by schools across the state (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-b).

Student achievement for the TCAP TNReady ELA is categorized into four performance levels, with a maximum point value of 450. The scale scores were provided, which correlated with achievement performance levels: Level 1- Below; Level 2 -Approaching; Level 3 - On Track; and Level 4 - Mastered (Tennessee Department of Education, n.d.-c). Cut scale scores, or cut-off points dividing test results, were used to assign students to different achievement levels.

Based on the performance levels provided by TCAP TNReady ELA, the state reading assessment was the most appropriate choice of instrumentation selection for this study because I looked at the achievement and growth of fourth grade students. Achievement scores are determined by the points students earn on the assessment, and growth scores are determined by subtracting students' fourth grade achievement score with their third grade achievement score. The TCAP TNReady ELA test was the most consistent test administered to the students of this study. The TCAP TNReady test was the best instrumentation choice to answer the research questions for this study.

## **Reliability and Validity**

Validity in research refers to the description or reflection of accurate findings in a study. According to Burkholder et al. (2016), the validity of a study refers to the study's methods and instruments' trustworthiness. There are several types of validity issues in research studies, including external and internal validity (Burkholder et al., 2016). External validity refers to the extent to which research findings can be generalized across contexts (Babbie, 2017). According to Burkholder et al., threats to external validity of a study include interactions of causal relationship with sample units, treatment variations, types of outcome measures used, settings in which the treatment was observed, and context-dependent mediation. When interpreting results from quantitative research studies, one must consider the generalizability of the research design. Researchers can ensure external validity by thinking carefully about ways a research study may apply to other settings (Burkholder et al., 2016). Establishing external validity was accomplished by completing a thorough review of literature. Literature reviews provide researchers with a foundation to build a new study, highlight gaps in previous research, and offer ways to build on to previous studies. On the other hand, *internal validity* refers to a causal inference made between independent and dependent variables (Babbie, 2017; Burkholder et al., 2016; Shadish et al., 2002).

Addressing internal and external threats when designing a research study allows a researcher confidence in quality results. The first step in mitigating threats within

research is to be aware of possible concerns that may arise. Understanding the research question(s), creating relevant methodological frameworks, and selecting the best research design to answer the question aid in ensuring experiment results are valid (Burkholder et al., 2016). Threats to external validity were addressed by conducting a thorough literature review and using commonly known reading software programs, increasing generalizability. Threats to internal validity were addressed by using a state-wide standardized assessment and conducting statistical analysis of the assessment scores.

According to Babbie (2017), construct validity is based on the reasonableness of relationships between variables. In this study, I determined the possible influence of IXL and Reading Plus on fourth grade TCAP TNReady growth scores. Possible threats to construct validity for this study was whether the program has been implemented with fidelity and student program usage. To minimize threats to construct validity, I ran a one-way ANCOVA test controlling for ELA yearly averages, sex, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. To ensure construct validity, I described all the constructs in the study with accuracy and made inferences about the constructs that best represent this study. Possible threats to statistical conclusion validity would be type I or type II error in the statistical test, leading to incorrect conclusions about the relationship between the variables. To minimize a threat to statistical conclusion validity, I avoided performing multiple *t* tests, which increases the chances of having a type I error.

## **Data Collection and Analysis**

According to Burkholder et al. (2016), there are many ways to collect data for a quantitative study. However, all methods of data collection pose a challenge for the

researcher. I planned to use archival data from a southeastern school district. Using archival records provides rich data to answer the research questions (Burkholder et al., 2016). The Director of Accountability and School Improvement for the selected public-school district directed the Supervisor of Assessment and Testing to provide me with 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 TCAP TNReady Reading archival data for my study. The archival data request included deidentified matched data sets for fourth grade students from the three Title I schools.

To gain access to the archived data for this quantitative study, I submitted a formal written request for archived TCAP TNReady fourth grade reading data to the district's Director of Accountability and School Improvement. The written request to collect archived data included the educational purpose of the request and validated approval with Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). I requested that the archived data be provided in the form of a digital spreadsheet file with deidentified matched data sets. I received one spreadsheet that included school identifier, student identifier, 2017-2018 third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores, 2018-2019 fourth grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores, ELA yearly average, and sex. The digital file was stored in a password-protected laptop. I will destroy all data after three years by deleting the files from my password-protected laptop.

In compliance with Walden University's IRB, the researcher obtained permission before beginning this study through a letter of cooperation sent to the district's Director of Accountability and School Improvement (pseudonym). Upon approval, I sent a letter to the school district's Supervisor of Testing, Educator Evaluation, and Response to Intervention (pseudonym) to request access to archived TCAP TNReady ELA scores and data. The Supervisor of Testing, Educator Evaluation, and Response to Intervention provided one spreadsheet of deidentified TCAP TNReady ELA scale scores for the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 school years. Data were transferred into Microsoft Excel without identifiable information. Transient students with incomplete data were excluded from the study. Demographic data was accessed through the school district's PowerSchool database. I requested nominal scale data such as a school identifier, student identification number, and sex for each student. I requested interval scale data that included TCAP TNReady ELA scores for 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 and yearly ELA averages for each student. Archived TCAP TNReady data for 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 represent the best source of data since there is no test data for the 2019-2020 school year due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

The dependent variable was the 2018-2019 change in fourth grade students' reading achievement scores from their 2017-2018 third grade reading scores. The independent variable for this study was the learning intervention with three levels: the control group with no intervention, IXL, and Reading Plus. The covariates were ELA yearly averages, sex, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. Data analyses were conducted using a Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) v27. Once homogeneity of variance was established, I conducted a one-way ANCOVA, controlling for sex, district ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores (covariates) to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in TCAP TNReady reading growth scores (third grade scores vs. fourth grade scores) for fourth grade students

between the three groups. Data were analyzed at the .05 significance level to determine if one treatment was more effective than the other (Wagner, 2016). All TCAP TNReady ELA test data were scrubbed to deidentify student names from test scores provided. I received one spreadsheet that included a school identifier, student identification number, ELA yearly averages, third grade TCAP TNReady reading scores, fourth grade TCAP TNReady reading scores, and sex. Matched student data sets using the fields provided were included in the spreadsheet file. Students who had no matched data or those who received a zero were excluded from the analysis.

Data analyses were conducted using SPSS v27 and managed for the research question as follows:

1. To check assumptions for ANCOVA, I ran data checks, such as histograms and descriptive statistics, to give insight into distribution and sample size. Assumptions for ANCOVA are independent observations, normality, homogeneity of variance, homogeneity of regression slopes, and linearity. For independent observations, I ran a histogram look for any outliers in the values of the dependent variable and covariates. For normality assumption, I looked at the Shapiro-Wilk test which indicated that there is a normal distribution between the dependent variable and independent variable. Using a scatterplot, I was able to determine if there is a linear relationship between the covariate and the dependent variable for each level of the independent variable. I ran a test of between-subjects effects test to ensure it met the assumption for homogeneity of regression slopes
at the significance level of .05. Finally, to test for homogeneity of variance, I ran a Levene's test to confirm there was equal variance across samples.

2. In response to the research question, regarding the influence of interventions on the TCAP TNReady ELA growth scores, I ran a one-way ANCOVA test without covariates first to see if the homogeneity of slopes held. I then ran a one-way ANCOVA with covariates (sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores) to test the null hypothesis.

# Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations

Following are my study's assumptions, limitations, and scope and delimitations. Assumptions were made that enabled me to conduct my study, but could not be proven (Burkholder et al., 2016). Limitations outlined were constraints beyond my control that could have had an impact on the outcomes of this study (see Burkholder et al., 2016). The scope and delimitations are outlined, which describes the defining boundaries of the study (Burkholder et al., 2016).

#### Assumptions

I assumed that teachers implemented the reading software programs, IXL and Reading Plus, with fidelity, giving students ample time to engage with the software. Furthermore, I assumed that practice with the programs only occurred during school and not at home. These assumptions are necessary because the research questions and hypotheses addressed the relationship between the implementation of the programs and reading achievement and growth. The amount of time spent utilizing the program, teacher experience, and level of home support was not a part of the investigation.

# Limitations

The use of convenience and purposeful sampling approach has disadvantages, as it can increase researcher bias and decrease generalizability (Jager et al., 2017). I used homogenous convenience sampling to mitigate this limitation (see Jager et al., 2017). The results may only be generalized to the population within this one small, decentralized school district in a suburban area. To address sampling limitation and minimize external threats to validity, I selected schools in a district where I am not employed (see Thomas, 2017). According to Burkholder et al. (2016), researcher bias is unintentional subjectivity to the research topic or participants. By choosing two schools in the district where I am not employed and have no connections, I minimized researcher bias (see Babbie, 2017; Burkholder et al., 2016). Another potential limitation could be the use of archival data. According to Burkholder et al., archival data is a source of rich data, but the collection and coding methods could pose limitations. To minimize the potential limitation of archival data use, I used the most current archival data available (for the 2017-2018 school year and 2018-2019 school year).

Additional limitations of this analysis include the limited accessibility to state assessment data due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Students did not take state assessments due to school closures in the spring of 2020. Additionally, I had difficulty selecting similar schools with the small suburban school district. Out of eight elementary schools in the district, only six of the schools meet the Title I criteria. Out of the six Title I elementary schools, two of the schools did not use blended learning.

# **Scope and Delimitations**

This study focused on the impact two different blended eLearning software programs have on fourth grade TCAP reading achievement and growth scores among all students. Literacy software was chosen for this study to fill a gap in the research demonstrating the relationship between the use of literacy software and state achievement scores. This study's target population was fourth grade students who attended two different elementary schools in a fully accredited Southeast U.S. public school district.

To obtain the necessary data and ensure that each group within the population is represented, I used two types of sampling: convenience and purposeful. Convenience sampling is a process in which the researcher selects samples based on what is easily accessible (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Purposeful sampling is used when the researcher is knowledgeable about the research population, its elements, and the purpose of the study (Thomas, 2017). This study may be generalized to upper elementary populations using a blended learning approach or using supplemental blended eLearning tools because I used commonly known reading software programs used to support the reading curriculum.

#### **Protection of Participants' Rights**

What is considered ethical in research is a matter of what a community of people agrees is right and wrong. In social research, participation should be voluntary and should not harm those participating. Social researchers have ethical obligation the research community and subjects in the study. Many researchers may be subjected to seeking prior approval from an IRB to ensure the subjects' rights and interests will be protected (Babbie, 2017). The IRB follows guidance from the Belmont Report, which specifies ethical principles of justice, beneficence, and respect for persons (Endicott, n.d.; National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978).

Ethical issues must be addressed to ensure the safety of research participants (Babbie, 2017). I obtained archival data for this study, eliminating any interactions or possible harm to human subjects. Before collecting data, I participated in CITI Human Subjects Training, in which I learned about ethical procedures to protect human subjects. Additionally, I obtained IRB approval (07-22-21-0766687) from Walden University and the school district in which this study was conducted. Since I used archival data from previous assessments, there were no ethical concerns about recruitment, use of incentives, or intervention activities.

The archival data obtained was deidentified for anonymity. I was given the student data in a spreadsheet, which was stored on a password-protected laptop. The spreadsheet included school identifier, student identifier, third grade reading scores, fourth grade reading scores, sex, and ELA yearly average. Documents pertaining to the data will be destroyed from the laptop after three years. To eliminate ethical issues of conducting the study within my work environment, I selected schools where I am not employed. I did not receive information about which teacher each student had because the data was scrubbed of personal information.

#### **Data Analysis Results**

As outlined earlier in this section, this project used previously collected data, which was TCAP TNReady scores for 2017-2018 and 2018-2019. For the purpose of this study, the following research question and hypotheses were tested. Is there a statistically significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, district ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores?

 $H_0$ : There is no significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores.

 $H_1$ : There is a statistically significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores.

Once the data was obtained from the school district, the data were statistically analyzed using a one-way ANCOVA controlling for third grade TCAP TNReady scores, sex, and fourth grade yearly ELA averages. Using a one-way ANCOVA allowed me to determine if there were any significant differences in the control group and two treatment groups that used IXL and Reading Plus. ANCOVA is a commonly used test to compare the effect of two or more treatments while controlling for covariates that may have an impact on the dependent variable (Thomas, 2017; Wagner, 2016). A significance level of < .05 was used to determine if one treatment was more effective than the other.

The analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) is a statistical test used to control for the effects of a confounding variable (covariate) on the relationship or association between a predictor and outcome variable. With ANCOVA, the covariate is measured at a continuous level. The predictor variable can represent independent groups or levels of a categorical variable. The outcome is continuous with ANCOVA.

Just like with other independent group comparisons, there are certain statistical assumptions that must be met before an ANCOVA is employed. I ran five assumptions including independent observation, assumption of normality, homogeneity of variance, homogeneity of regression, and linearity. The first assumption I tested for was the assumption of independent observations. Specifically, this test refers to the similarity of ELA scale scores between the three schools. Through independence of observation, I looked for outliers within the ELA scores between schools. As shown in Figure 3, the bell shape indicates a normal distribution with no outliers. Based on the 68-95-99.7 Rule of normal distribution, the data in Figure 3 show that approximately 99.7% of the population is located within three standard deviations from the mean (Moore et al., 2013). With the normal curve, I assumed the groups had similar ELA scale scores. I then moved on to test the assumption of normality.

# Figure 3

Distribution of ELA Scores



The second assumption tested the covariate and the dependent variable to meet the assumption of normality. This test ensures the dependent variable is normally distributed within each subgroup and enhances the robustness of the ANCOVA test (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Running a Shapiro-Wilk test for normality was best suited for this study since there was a small sample size. Based on the results of the Shapiro-Wilk Test (Table 1), the p value for each school was greater than 0.05, indicating the data was normal. Thus, the assumption of normality was met.

# Table 1

Τ	est	01	ſŊ	ormal	litv

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov <sup>a</sup>			Shapiro-Wilk			
School name	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
Woodmont	.098	57	.200	.980	57	.484	
North Ridge	.078	28	.200	.979	28	.833	
South View	.054	56	.200	.993	56	.984	

a. Lilliefors Significance Correction

The third assumption was the homogeneity of variance between the independent groups. When I interpreted the SPSS data output for the ANCOVA, I looked in the Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances (Table 2). I tested the hypothesis that the group variances are equal. This is the test for homogeneity of variance. This is the *p* value that is interpreted. If the *p* value is less than 0.05, then the research has violated this assumption and should be checked for outliers or run non-parametric tests. If the *p* value is more than .05, then the research has met the assumption and researchers continue with the analysis. In this research, with an F = 0.620 and a *p* value of 0.539 which is greater than 0.05 this assumption was not violated. The high *p* value in the sample results is consistent with a true null hypothesis ( $H_0$ : There is no significant difference in control group, IXL, and Reading Plus ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady scores.)

Next, I looked in the Tests of Between-Subjects Effects to test homogeneity of regression. These are the p values that are interpreted. If the p value is less than .05, then the covariate significantly adjusts the association between the predictor and outcome variable. If the p value is more than .05, then the covariate does not adjust the association

between the predictor and outcome variable. In my research, sex has a p value of 0.405, hence it does not significantly adjust this association. In this research study, boys and girls had similar change in ELA scores from third to fourth grade. High p values in this sample are consistent with a true null hypothesis. However, third grade scale scores have a p value of 0.000, hence it significantly adjusts the association between the dependent and independent variable. This test shows that the homogeneity of regression condition was met. This is depicted in Table 2.

# Table 2

Source	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
Corrected model	11656.831ª	4	2914.208	7.046	.000
Intercept	5115.976	1	5115.976	12.369	.001
Sex	288.627	1	288.627	.698	.405
Grade 3 TCAP score	8123.431	1	8123.431	19.640	.000
School name	6147.124	2	3073.562	7.431	.001
Error	56251.736	136	413.616		
Total	94932.000	141			
Corrected total	69708.567	140			

# Test of Between-Subjects Effects

After I tested between-subject effects, I looked at the *p* value associated with the "grouping" or categorical predictor variable. In this study, there was a statistically significant difference between the groups at the p < .05 level for the three conditions [*F* (2) = 7.431, p = 0.001] statistically significant difference between the different levels or

groups of school in this study (Table 3). That is to say that there was significant difference in ELA scores between the different schools.

# Table 3

### Estimated Marginal Means

			95% Confidence Interval		
School name	Mean	Std. Error	Lower bound	Upper bound	
Woodmont	-11.768ª	2.697	-17.102	-6.434	
North Ridge	-27.361ª	3.940	-35.153	-19.570	
South View	-9.198 <sup>a</sup>	2.746	-14.629	-3.767	

Lastly, if the covariate was significant, and the grouping or predictor (independent) variable was significant, then researchers have evidence that there was a statistically significant difference between the groups or levels when controlling for the covariate (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). When improving the model with the inclusion of a covariate, there remains a significant effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable after controlling for the effect covariate (F (2, 20) = 3.56, p < .05). In my study, the covariate of third grade TCAP TNReady score and the independent variable (control, IXL, and Reading Plus) were significant; hence there is a statistically significant difference between the schools in this study. A post-hoc Bonferroni test (alpha level = 0.05) was performed to follow up the pairwise comparisons, which indicated that South View performed better than Woodmont (M = 2.570) and North Ridge (M = 18.163). See the results below in Table 4. The Bonferroni test was better suited for this analysis because I was comparing a small number of means; thus, reducing the risk of making a Type II error (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018).

# Table 4

Pairwise Comparison

					95% Confidence Interval for difference
School name	School name	Mean difference	Std. Error	Sig	Lower bound
Woodmont	North Ridge	15.593*	4.785	.004	3.994
	South View	-2.570	3.848	1.000	-11.897
North Ridge	Woodmont	-15.593*	4.785	.004	-27.193
	South View	-18.163*	4.870	.001	-29.968
South View	Woodmont	2.570	3.848	1.000	-6.757
	North Ridge	18.163*	4.870	.001	6.359

In this project study, I examined whether schools who implemented adaptive software reading programs observed significant gains among their students. Because the school district implemented various reading software programs to increase reading achievement among upper elementary students, three schools were compared based on their varied program utilization (IXL, Reading Plus, and no blended learning). South View used Reading Plus and performed better than North Ridge and Woodmont. Woodmont used no blended learning and performed better than students who used IXL. I did not expect Woodmont to perform better than North Ridge since they did not use any software programs. However, through the data collection, I learned that North Ridge had a highly transient population. The findings of this study did not indicate a significant amount of growth for students at any of the schools. However, students that used Reading Plus performed better than students who used no software programs or IXL. The study's findings laid the foundation for the policy recommendation paper prepared for the district's decision-makers. Based on the findings, I chose a project study in the genre of a policy recommendation paper to address a local gap in practice.

### Summary

Section 2 provided the results of the analysis used to determine if there is a difference in reading achievement between students in three elementary schools: no blended learning, IXL, and Reading Plus. A total of 141 students participated in the study. One group of students receiving IXL treatment (North Ridge Elementary), only had 28 participants compared to the two groups who had 56 and 57 participants. Students from the IXL school are transient, so 50 matched data sets could not be pulled to use for this study. All students in the study were given the TCAP TNReady test in third grade during the 2017-2018 school year. Participants took the TCAP TNReady test in fourth grade during the 2018-2019 school year. Data were collected and analyzed using ANCOVA analysis through SPSS v27.

A one-way ANCOVA was conducted to compare the differences of three different elementary schools in relation to the ELA scores for grade 4 while controlling for sex and previous third grade scores. Levene's test and normality checks were carried out and the assumptions met. There was a significant difference in mean change in ELA scores [F] = 7.431, p = 0.001 between the schools. Post hoc tests (pairwise comparisons) showed there was a significant difference between schools 0 and 1 (p = 0.004) and schools 1 and 2 (p = 0.001). Comparing the estimated marginal means showed that the highest change in ELA scores were obtained in school 2 (South View Elementary, mean = -9.198) compared to schools 0 (Woodmont Elementary, mean = -11.768) and 1 (North Ridge Elementary, mean = -27.361).

Section 2 has included the results of descriptive statistics and analysis of the data for this study. Section 3 provides a description of this report, results in a summary of the overall study, and recommendations for refining current practice regarding educational technology.

### Section 3: The Project

I selected a policy recommendation paper for my project study. This selection was based on findings that there was no comprehensive plan for evaluating and implementing blended learning tools at the elementary level. Because the district only had anecdotal analysis of these programs, exploring the impact these programs had on achievement scores compared to a control group helped fill a local gap in practice. The genre selected for this project was best suited to provide district administrators and teachers with evidence-based research (see Dagenais et al., 2012; Morrison et al., 2014; Slavin, 2020) on the best blended learning program to implement with the current literacy curriculum to improve reading achievement. The policy recommendation paper consists of a program description, data collection, quantitative data analysis, and recommendations for areas of refinement. I will disseminate the report to administrators in the district. The project may improve the selection of blended learning reading programs for upper elementary students, which could positively impact reading achievement among fourth grade students.

#### Rationale

The reading TCAP TNReady scores of fourth grade students were declining in comparison to math TCAP TNReady scores in the local school district, beginning in the 2015-2016 school year. To address this decline in scores, I examined the influence of the blended learning adaptive software programs implemented at two different Title I elementary schools in the district in the fourth grade. A control school that used no interventions helped determine whether the blended learning programs had any effect on reading achievement. Findings provide the district with information to improve the selection of literacy software programs to aid in differentiating reading instruction in blended learning classrooms.

I developed a policy recommendation paper to examine the major outcomes of implementing these adaptive software programs for students in fourth grade. A policy recommendation paper best fit this study because it aligned to a local problem in which quantitative analysis (see Lange, 2019; Slavin, 2020) was needed to determine which blended learning reading program would best meet the needs of upper elementary students in the district. The policy recommendation paper addressed the need for analysis because the district did not analyze the impact of implementing the fourth grade blended learning initiative. Because teachers in the district recently began using a blended learning approach in their literacy classrooms, the district needed a closer look at test data. Furthermore, because schools in the district choose their own software programs, stakeholders needed a better understanding of which programs were most effective in helping students attain higher reading achievement levels (see See & Gorard, 2020; Slavin, 2020). By adding a control group that used only a traditional approach in using the current reading textbook adoption with no technology integration, the research outcomes helped to understand if blended learning had a positive effect on reading achievement.

The policy recommendation paper provides stakeholders with valuable data that will be disseminated throughout the district to the director of accountability and school improvement and the supervisor of instructional technology. The policy recommendation paper includes a description of the adaptive software programs used by the district as interventions to support the adopted reading textbook. The report also offers the results of the quantitative analysis of test data on the implemented programs and solutions to improve ongoing support for students and teachers. The policy recommendation paper includes the purpose of the project study, the sample size, the data collection and analysis procedures, the results, and recommendations for future practice to improve reading achievement in upper elementary students.

# **Project Review of the Literature**

In this literature review, I consider the data analysis in Section 2 and examine how research informs practice for this policy recommendation paper. The materials I examined throughout this literature review included peer-reviewed journal articles, books, and Walden University dissertations. The search engines and databases that I used included Education Research Complete, ERIC, Google Scholar, ProQuest, and ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. Combinations of search terms included the following: *evidence-based practice, impact of Covid-19 on student learning, district analysis, evaluation report, program evaluation report, policy recommendation paper, ongoing support, professional development, systemic change, meeting the needs of minority groups, literacy needs of ELL students, literacy needs of SES*, and *school improvement*.

#### Value of Evidence-Based Practice

Studies have indicated that administrators and teachers rarely consult researchbased evidence to support or improve their practices (Dagenais et al., 2012; Morrison et al., 2014; Slavin, 2020). Instead, most educators rely on vendor recommendations, advice from friends, or people they know and trust in similar schools and districts (Slavin, 2020). With a proliferation of instructional practices and technology tools becoming more available to schools, administrators and educators need to know which approaches have been robustly or independently evaluated (See & Gorard, 2020). In 2015, the ESSA established research-based evidence to help schools choose educational programs, products, and practices that focus on increasing students' literacy and numeracy skills (Fullan, 2020; Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). ESSA outlined strong, moderate, and promising levels of evidence to guide school leaders in choosing programs (Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). Additionally, ESSA offered federal funding to schools that chose evidence-based programs (Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). Through movements like ESSA, education leadership has started to focus on capacity building for individuals and groups to promote deeper learning linked to results (Fullan, 2020). According to Fullan (2019), leaders who possess nuance help their institutions' teachers and students foster deeper learning. Nuance allows leaders to participate as learners to see below the surface, helping the organization move forward (Fullan, 2019).

Evidence of effective programs undergo rigorous research with third-party evaluators, require careful matching of samples, have adequate sample size and duration, and undergo appropriate analyses (Slavin, 2020). In addition to evidence for ESSA, the What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) is another source educational leaders can consult for guidance on selecting programs for implementation. WWC provides reports on researched programs in several academic areas, including reading, math, and programs for ELLs (Cheung et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). Low-performing schools seeking federal grants for school improvement initiatives must choose evidence-based programs that meet one of the three ESSA definitions of proven programs (Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). Through ESSA's requirements for low-performing schools, school leaders and teachers across the United States are becoming more interested in knowing which programs offer the most significant effect size to make informed decisions (Neitzel et al., 2021). Using proven programs with students will benefit millions of children, teachers, and administrators who yearn for more effective tools to do their job well (Slavin, 2020).

In a qualitative study, Wijekumar et al. (2019) discovered that teachers felt like they did not have the autonomy or authority to change their teaching materials or practices. As a result, teachers only used the prepackaged teaching materials adopted by the school or district (Wijekumar et al., 2019). When the researchers interviewed administrators, they reported that teachers had access to professional development opportunities from textbook companies, frequent assessment to gauge student learning, and data meetings with teachers to determine which students were falling behind. One thing that stood out to Wijekumar et al. is that there seemed to be a missing piece to the data meetings: no follow-up of evidence-based practices to use with underperforming students. Because teachers felt constrained by the system, Wijekumar et al. recommended an increased focus on administrator decision-making based on researched studies defined by the WWC. Wijekumar et al. asserted that increasing student outcomes in reading requires more than just focusing on teacher preparation and practices. Instead, school leaders and districts should carefully review and research evidence-based literacy programs before implementation.

Recent policy shifts encouraging schools to use evidence-based practices can positively impact outcomes for students reading below grade level (Neitzel et al., 2021). Neitzel et al. (2021) reviewed 65 quantitative research studies that explored 51 different programs for struggling readers at the elementary level. All programs aligned within a response to intervention framework focusing on serving students at Tiers 1, 2, and 3 (Neitzel et al., 2021). Outcomes were positive for one-to-one tutoring and one-to-small group tutoring, with no difference between teachers and teaching assistants (Neitzel et al., 2021). The average effect size for one-to-one tutoring was +0.38, whereas small group tutoring had an average effect size of +0.31 (Madden & Slavin, 2017). Whole-class and whole-school approaches obtained positive outcomes as significant as all forms of tutoring (Neitzel et al., 2021). Technology-supportive approaches using adaptive software did not show positive outcomes unless adaptive software programs and human tutoring were used in conjunction (Madden & Slavin, 2017; Neitzel et al., 2021). Madden and Slavin (2017) speculated that using technology-assisted software programs in conjunction with paraprofessionals and small groups allows schools to reach large numbers of underperforming students at an affordable cost.

In the spring of 2020, schools worldwide faced structural and pedagogical challenges to provide accessible and high-quality learning opportunities for students of all backgrounds (Buckley-Marudas & Rose, 2020). The Covid-19 global pandemic required education leaders to lead and learn in unpredictable situations (Fullan, 2020). The challenges districts faced allowed for reflection and evaluation of remote learning experiences (Buckley-Marudas & Rose, 2020). There is a greater need for closing achievement gaps due to school closures and remote learning. As such, it is imperative for education leaders and teachers to choose evidence-based programs tailored to their student population (Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020).

### **Implementing Districtwide Analysis**

The scholarship of learning and teaching includes researching and implementing teaching methods and evaluating the effectiveness of the strategies employed (Raffaghelli, 2017). Routinely gathering and using assessment data is a standard procedure within most school districts. Critically analyzing the impact implemented programs have on student achievement is critical to ensure effective practices are used to meet diverse student populations. Having a better understanding of student learning allows educators to improve teaching methods to meet the growing needs and expectations for improving the quality of education (Oriji & Amadi, 2016). In recent years, educational technology has developed at a rapid pace, but evaluation has not caught up to implementation. The frequent adoption of educational approaches without sound evidence is an underlying problem in education (Raffaghelli, 2017). Therefore, it is important for leaders of educational change to evaluate the most effective methods for implementing technology in K to 12 classrooms (Oriji & Amadi, 2016).

Despite the need to evaluate effective teaching methods, applying quality assurance models to determine the value of eLearning poses a challenge due to the complexity and novelty of technology integration in the educational system (Curpănaru, 2021). Schools have had to transform teaching methods to include 21st century skills, which require strengthening the infrastructure, creating single sign-on portals for students to navigate platforms with ease, implementing learning management systems, experimenting with collaborative learning tools, digitizing learning materials, creating interactive lessons, and training teachers on how to effectively use technology (Curpănaru, 2021). With new models of learning in the eLearning environment, analysis must consider the interaction between teachers, students, content, and technology (Curpănaru, 2021). Curpănaru's (2021) quality assurance model suggested that pedagogical principles must be applied before the implementation of technology infrastructure. Once the infrastructure is in place, quality assurance of content development and application can be evaluated.

Evaluating whether digital tools promote higher student outcomes can be challenging for school districts but necessary to ensure limited resources are being used appropriately (Hollands & Pan, 2018). Some school districts have established strategies to systematically pilot new programs for a short period before deciding whether to implement the new product districtwide to demonstrate the effectiveness of educational tools (Hollands & Pan, 2018). For example, Hollands and Pan (2018) investigated the effect of two online adaptive math programs, eSpark and IXL, with 9,000 students in the northeastern United States. Results showed that students who used eSpark yielded an average gain of 0.54 on the Star Math Assessment, and those who used IXL had an average gain of 63 points. Further, for every hour spent using IXL, students gained 0.231 points on Star Math. Although eSpark had a lower cost per student, it was costlier than IXL due to the increased cost of materials, equipment, and license fees, and it required teacher training and support.

Blended tools for learning offer multiple benefits. Digital tools often cost less than traditional instructional materials and offer a personalized experience for students, while also offering benefits similar to teacher-led instruction. Digital tools with adaptive features provide several tools beyond simply allowing students to redundantly practice math skills (Hollands & Pan, 2018). Districts should consider personnel time involved in training and ongoing analysis when considering the cost of the digital tools. Furthermore, careful thought should be given to implementation to ensure students receive a personalized experience. Providing time for teacher training, including how to use data dashboards to meet individual student's needs, eases implementation and increases programs' fidelity (Hollands & Pan, 2018). Though practices for encouraging innovative use of digital technology come with possibilities and challenges, collaboration among teachers and students may increase over time and allow for deeper learning (Lindqvist, 2019). In a study on a laptop initiative in two schools over 2 years, school leaders and teachers focused more on the technology tools at the beginning of the initiative. The leaders and teachers slowly shifted their focus to pedagogy after troubleshooting technical challenges and managing student work.

#### Using Technology to Meet the Needs of Student Subpopulations

School districts often struggle with closing the achievement gap in reading for student subpopulations, such as students from racial and ethnic minority groups, students with 504 plans and IEPs, and students from low-income households (Lange, 2019; Madden & Slavin, 2017). Research has shown a gap in reading fluency proficiency among Hispanic and African American students, causing poor performance on state reading tests and a struggle in comprehending grade-level texts (Allington & McGill-Franzen, 2021; Arnesen et al., 2017; Lange, 2019; Rasinski, 2003, 2019). However, a web-based tool, Fluency Tutor, showed an impact on third grade students living in a lowincome, urban setting (Lange, 2019). The Lexia Core5 Reading program also improved reading gains across grade levels and ethnic categories (Macaruso et al., 2020). Additionally, a digital tablet study was found to have a positive effect on reading when used 40 minutes per week (Darling-Aduana & Heinrich, 2018). Educational technology tools like Fluency Tutor may not only increase elementary minority student achievement but also teacher efficiency. For instance, teachers using blended learning in their literacy classrooms focused on conducting small group instruction while other students are independently worked with technology (Horn & Fisher, 2017; Horn & Staker, 2015; Lange, 2019). According to Rombot et al. (2020), blended learning programs helped to solve limited time problems and provided required instructional materials to meet the needs of various learners. However, teachers needed training and support in their classrooms while students are using technology (Darling-Aduana & Heinrich, 2018).

### Providing Ongoing Support for Teachers Through Systemic Leadership

The new generation of students, referred to as digital natives, benefit from computer-assisted technology in the learning process. Technology leadership is critical for increasing the quality of education in a digital learning environment. According to ISTE standards, technology leaders must possess visionary leadership, digital age culture, excellence in professional practice, systemic improvement, and digital citizenship (ISTE, 2018). Though school leaders have felt that technology was effective in the educational process, it should not take precedence over learning objectives (Akcil et al., 2019). When technology was integrated intentionally at the school level, teachers felt technology was an effective tool for communicating and collaborating with each other and was beneficial for student use. Akcil et al. claimed that strong technology leadership is imperative for successful technology integration.

School leaders also often indirectly affect student learning since leaders are often the catalyst behind implementing new programs. Academic culture is a multi-variable construct that school leaders need to consider when increasing student achievement, such as teachers setting high attainable goals (Leithwood & Sun, 2018). Overall, administrators can impact student achievement by enhancing instructional efforts by providing teachers with resources, analyzing their effectiveness, and creating a supportive culture with organizational routines (Leithwood & Sun, 2018). Educators are responsible for implementing quality technology instructional strategies, often without proper training or support (Califf & Brooks, 2020). Program fidelity can only occur when school leaders implement the devices with intentionality (Horn & Staker, 2015; Kieschnick & Casap, 2017; Kim et al., 2018). Califf and Brooks (2020) found that educational systems need to incorporate teachers into the design and development of technology used by teachers.

In addition to providing ongoing support for early-to-adopt teachers, schools need to find ways to engage more reluctant teachers (Schechter et al., 2015). Teachers are often resistant to using technology in their classrooms for various reasons. One possible cause of teachers not effectively integrating technology is that they lack personal technological skills to plan learning experiences for their students (Shaffer et al., 2015). Some teachers may also fear losing control of their students' learning (Oriji & Amadi, 2016). Others wonder if technology integration will require more work for the teacher (Oriji & Amadi, 2016). Thus, teachers and teacher candidates may need more professional development opportunities and ongoing support to implement technology effectively. A comprehensive plan requires a technology-rich learning environment supported by ongoing professional development, technology coaches, high-quality curriculum, and administrative leadership to support teachers (Buckley-Marudas & Rose, 2020; Fullan, 2020; ISTE, 2018).

A comprehensive program states the goals, offers hands-on experience, and provides scaffolding support from content coaches to maintain teachers throughout the year (Xie et al., 2017). Pedagogical change requires professional development activities spread over a semester, including 20 hours or more of contact time (Ciampa, 2017; Jones & Dexter, 2018; Urbina & Polly, 2017). However, before implementing a new program, teachers often only receive one-time training with no follow-up sessions throughout the year. Occasionally, teachers receive several sessions with collaborative conversations with colleagues. But training needs to include ongoing coaching throughout the year to model proper implementation (Topping, 2018). Additionally, increased time spent using the program increases student outcomes (Darling-Aduana & Heinrich, 2018; Kazakoff et al., 2018; See & Gorard, 2020; & Sutter et al., 2020), but teachers need ongoing support to ensure proper implementation of programs (Topping, 2018). Knowledge about teachers' perceptions and attitudes is essential for designing and implementing effective professional development (Crompton et al., 2015). A study of 29 participants at five different elementary schools indicated that teachers understand what digital learning opportunities they should offer. They felt comfortable using the technology in their personal life but expressed concerns about the barriers when trying to use technology in their classrooms, such as a lack of devices, problems with the infrastructure, trouble with students logging in, the inability to monitor student usage, and a shortage of appropriate and ongoing professional development (Hawthorn, 2018). Further, teachers believed that blended learning supported their practices but experienced student disengagement and a lack of time to effectively learn and share ideas to implement new technologies (Sorbie, 2015). Based on these perceptions, teachers are better able to implement technology in their classroom when they are provided with support from their peers and curriculum coaches as well as ongoing support throughout the school year to ensure implementation with fidelity.

Taylor et al. (2020) found that teachers often integrate technology tools at a low level on Bloom's Revised Taxonomy and SAMR model, resulting in mixed levels of student engagement. In a yearlong qualitative study, Taylor et al. examined how 16 diverse third grade classrooms implemented digital technology during literacy instruction. Researchers interviewed and observed the 16 teachers in the study. In all but one classroom, teachers used digital programs like Lexia, Canvas LMS, digital texts on myON, and iReady. The theme that emerged from the data was a high level of activities at the substitution level on the SAMR model. The researchers observed higher levels of engagement during teacher-led technology lessons or collaborative group work. However, Taylor et al. did not often observe increased levels of engagement and learning during literacy instruction. Overall, Taylor et al. noted that the computers used in the third grade classrooms were not transforming learning toward higher levels of thinking such as applying, evaluating, and creating. Teachers reported using technology to personalize learning and for differentiation. However, the researchers only observed teachers using technology to teach literacy disconnectedly that appeared to merely substitute traditional instruction. Taylor et al. recommended that teachers needed more training and support on implementing technology in their lessons to allow for a more transformative learning experience for students. Overall, Taylor et al. noted that having access to technology tools is not enough to support student learning. Instead, proper training and ongoing support for teachers are critical.

#### **Project Description**

The local problem identified in Section 1 was a lack of district analysis of selected blended learning adaptive reading programs. Several of the elementary schools used different blended learning adaptive reading programs to supplement the reading curriculum. This supplement differentiated the instruction to increase reading achievement in upper elementary students. The problem facing a southeastern state district is that schools in the district selected different approaches to address declining reading scores, but the district has no systematic analysis of the chosen blended eLearning tools to determine an improvement in reading growth scores among all students. This problem was evident in the school district after implementing a blended learning initiative and providing third through twelfth grade students with one-to-one devices. Since blended learning programs within the school district are selected based on site-based decisions, the district did not evaluate the benefits of the various programs, causing a gap in practice. I developed a deliverable report in the Appendix, an evaluation of two reading software programs and provided policy recommendations on enhancing the district's blended learning initiative.

A policy recommendation paper can disseminate data analysis and recommendations to district policymakers to build understanding, inform practice, and aid decision-making (Wong et al., 2017). This project used only archived data because the schools in the district already implemented the blended learning reading programs before the study began. The project study narrative describes the blended learning programs, reports quantitative analysis of achievement scores, and communicates actionable steps in the form of recommendations for continued improvement in the district's blended learning initiative (see LaBelle, 2017).

The goals of the policy recommendation paper are as follows:

- To document the current practices of blended learning at the fourth grade elementary level in the area of reading in the local school district.
- To use quantitative measures to analyze the impact IXL or Reading Plus have on fourth grade students in the district as compared to a control group.
- To understand the impact of blended learning interventions (IXL or Reading Plus) on reading achievement of upper elementary students in the district as compared to a control group.

- To review the literature for best practices related to evaluating the impact of adapted learning software for reading.
- To make recommendations for using blended learning adaptive reading programs for the district's educational technology department at the fourth grade level.

The policy recommendation paper established valid findings for this project study. When conducting data analysis, I observed significant differences between the control group and the groups who used blended learning to supplement the adopted reading program. The policy recommendation paper suggests Reading Plus adaptive reading intervention program was effective in differentiating reading instruction for fourth grade students to increase growth and achievement.

# **Potential Barriers and Solutions**

The researcher was responsible for collecting and analyzing the archival data provided by the local school district. I remained aware of my research biases and subjectivity throughout the study and consciously worked with my committee to conduct an ethical study and minimize personal bias. A potential barrier was researcher bias, because at the time of this study, I was employed as a fourth grade teacher at the school district. To prevent subjectivity, I selected elementary schools where I was not employed. By analyzing data from different schools, I was able to adhere to guidelines and standards for collecting and analyzing data (see Ary et al., 2006).

An additional barrier to the project study was the potential overlooking of covariates related to the implementation of the blended learning reading programs in the study. I did not have access to many factors that can impact students' reading achievement, such as program usage, teacher experience, and teacher training and support before and during implementation. To complete the most thorough analysis with the data I had access to, I chose covariates that were common in research literature that applied to the demographics of the local school district to use in the ANCOVA.

# **Proposal for Implementation and Timetable**

Because the project study involves a policy recommendation paper, implementation requires reporting the findings to appropriate stakeholders within the local school district. The study included quantitative analysis of fourth grade TCAP TNReady scores for students from three different elementary schools in the local school district. I will present the policy recommendation paper to the Director of Accountability and School Improvement and the Supervisor of Instructional Technology. According to Spaulding (2014), districts should evaluate programs that seek to improve student learning to determine the effectiveness in meeting the needs of the student population. My short presentation of the findings in the policy recommendation paper will take the form of a discussion with a visual presentation.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of the Student and Others**

I am responsible for providing stakeholders with a written policy recommendation paper with thorough findings based on TCAP TNReady data provided by the school district. The policy recommendation paper presented to the Director of Accountability and School Improvement and the Supervisor of Instructional Technology will provide the evaluation as well as program strengths and recommendations for improving the district's blended learning initiative. Findings may help the Supervisor of Instructional Technology make informed decisions about funding for software programs that target reading skills for elementary students.

### **Project Evaluation Plan**

The policy recommendation paper provides stakeholders with evaluation findings on the effects blended learning had on fourth grade reading scores. The purpose of this project study was to examine the impact two different blended eLearning tools had on TNReady TCAP scores of fourth grade students. Using archival data allowed me to evaluate the effectiveness of the programs to report key findings to district stakeholders. The overall goal of conducting this research was to evaluate whether Reading Plus or IXL had any impact on reading growth scores for fourth grade students in the local school district. Key stakeholders include district leaders, administrators, curriculum coaches, and upper elementary teachers. Once stakeholders receive the policy recommendation paper, I will provide further information relating to the study's findings upon request.

### **Project Implications**

The purpose of this project study was to examine the impact two different blended eLearning tools have on TNReady TCAP scores of fourth grade students. By analyzing the state assessment data of the treatment schools and control school, I gained a better understanding into the effectiveness of the implemented programs. The results for this study revealed that Reading Plus helped students make greater gains in reading achievement from third to fourth grade. The literacy curriculum needs an immediate action of change to improve reading achievement and growth for upper elementary students. By implementing an adaptive software program in blended learning classrooms to support the reading textbook adoption, teachers will be better equipped to differentiate instruction more effectively. Elementary students have proven benefit from DI through supportive blended learning literacy programs. Ongoing teacher support in implementing these programs with intentionality is needed to ensure program fidelity. Using blended learning during reading instruction can change the way teachers meet the individual needs of their students. Intentional implementation of effective programs can bring change in how all students learn reading skills.

The policy recommendation paper is important to stakeholders because the validity of the results. The findings of the data collection and analysis will guide administrators, technology leaders, and teachers on possible solutions to improving literacy skills of upper elementary students. From the information gathered in the policy recommendation paper, district technology coaches and reading coaches can determine which literacy software programs to purchase for the entire district that aligns to supporting all upper elementary students' reading achievement. This study promotes positive social change through an increased understanding that can inform efforts to increase reading achievement in upper elementary students.

### Section 4: Reflection and Conclusions

The purpose of the study was to compare the effect IXL and Reading Plus had on fourth grade reading scores. The results of the project study indicated that students using Reading Plus made greater gains in reading compared to students in the control group or those students who used IXL. A policy recommendation paper was developed to present the results of the project study to district stakeholders to promote an effective solution for differentiating instruction and supplementing the current reading textbook adoption to increase reading achievement among upper elementary students. The policy recommendation paper advocated implementing Reading Plus as an adaptive software program that would meet the needs of all students in the district. The project study was a small step in the right direction toward analyzing if purchased software programs have any impact on reading scores. Section 4 covers project strengths and limitations, recommendations for alternative approaches, scholarship, project development, and leadership and positive social change, reflection on the importance of the work, and implications, applications, and directions for future research.

#### **Project Strengths and Limitations**

The project study's strength was the design built on a current theoretical framework and research and supported through data collection from archival data in one southeastern school district. A quasi-experimental approach allowed me to collect data in order to analyze the effects the two blended eLearning software programs had on fourth grade reading scores (see Burkholder et al., 2016). The design of this project study addressed a local gap in practice where the district had not conducted a quantitative analysis on the impact adaptive software programs had on upper elementary students' reading scores. Findings from peer-reviewed articles, educational journals, and textbooks published within the last 5 years supported the project study's results. Additionally, the project design fits the connectivism theoretical framework, a new learning theory for the digital age (see Siemens, 2005). Based on the connectivism, students can learn from technology in addition to teachers and peers (Siemens, 2005).

#### **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

I chose a policy recommendation paper for my project study because I wanted to investigate the impact of previously implemented software programs on reading scores. Administrators in the district expressed a concern about declining reading scores at the upper elementary level. Teachers in the district expressed frustration about the constantly changing suggestions of software programs to use in their blended learning classrooms. Teachers voiced an interest in wanting to know which programs offered most support to their students. Based on the project findings and project literature review, I concluded that the district could improve the reading achievement of upper elementary students in the following areas:

- adopt the Reading Plus adaptive literacy software program for the entire district
- adequately train all teachers and literacy coaches on how to use the software program
- determine the best approach to integrate the software program to support the current state-mandated reading textbook adoption

- offer more teacher support by devoting one technology instructional coach at the elementary level, and
- continue to conduct quantitative analysis to verify the chosen software program meets the needs of the students in the district.

Reading Plus research findings showed that it allows teachers to differentiate their instruction and offers real time feedback on a teacher dashboard that helps teachers plan targeted small group instruction. Personalizing the literacy experience for students can help increase engagement and boost achievement among all learners (Basham et al., 2016; Bingham et al., 2018). To adopt and implement the program with fidelity, teachers need ongoing support to ensure they have assistance in learning how to use the program, how to use the data feedback, and ways to implement time for students to practice using the software program (Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). The district needs a technology coach at the elementary level who can be in the classrooms weekly to monitor program usage and offer support to teachers on strategies for using program feedback (see Califf & Brooks, 2020).

# Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change

The catalyst for my project study stemmed from the need to increase reading achievement in elementary students in one local school district. Teachers in the district needed evidence-based supplemental technology tools to support the reading textbook adoption. Ensuring students have practical tools during station rotation is critical in managing the literacy block and differentiating independent work. As a scholar, I gained more knowledge about practical uses for educational technology in the literacy classroom. Through my studies, I found that adaptative software interventions proved to increase reading achievement in elementary students when paired with teacher-led small group instruction. Finding literature targeted for upper elementary reading instruction was often difficult. There were limited resources on adaptive software programs for reading. In my literature review, I realized that adaptive math software was an area of research more so than reading.

My academic coursework and research study have helped me become a better teacher, especially since the Covid-19 pandemic changed how we teach. As a remote teacher during the pandemic, I felt better prepared because of my education as a doctoral student in educational technology. As a practitioner, the research process has been fulfilling. I learned how to analyze research studies to determine validity and generalizability critically. I chose a current theoretical framework that appropriately supported my study. I learned how to analyze test data using statistical methods to deliver credible results through data collection and analysis. I learned better time management skills to manage my doctoral studies, my full-time teaching job, and my role as a wife and mother. My time as a doctoral student has been long but rewarding.

#### **Reflection on the Importance of the Work**

Technology integration is rapidly changing the educational landscape at the elementary level. With the district's blended learning adoption and one-to-one device implementation, educators need to ensure the software used in the classroom meets the students' needs to boost achievement. Students spend time on devices to produce and
interact with technology rather than consuming it. Programs that merely enhance a paperpencil skills practice are not ideal because they do not personalize students' learning (Basham et al., 2016; Kallio & Halverson, 2020). Instead, adaptive software programs that collect real-time data on student learning have proven benefits of increasing reading achievement to support lifelong literacy skills (Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). The importance of the project study is the impact it has on the district's selection of blended eLearning software programs. The study showed that Reading Plus helped students show more reading achievement growth than IXL or no interventions. The policy recommendation paper was inspired by the findings and provided a detailed analysis, recommendations, and next steps to district administrators and technology and literacy coaches. The importance of the project study is significant to the field of educational technology and encourages change in one learning organization system.

#### **Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research**

The purpose of this comparative quantitative project study was to determine the influence two different blended eLearning tools, Reading Plus and IXL, had on TCAP TNReady ELA scores of fourth grade students. The data analysis indicated that students using Reading Plus made more significant gains than IXL or those in the control group.

In addressing the implication for social change, I provided recommendations to one southeastern school district to improve technology integration that may impact increased reading scores among upper elementary students. I provided a quantitative analysis of two different blended eLearning tools used in two different schools using archival data from the TCAP TNReady scores. With the data analysis, I provided recommendations for the school district, including (a) ongoing analysis using test scores to determine if the adaptive software programs are meeting the needs of all students in the district, (b) critically evaluating how the adaptive software programs are being implemented in the classroom to support the current reading textbook adoption, and (c) supporting elementary teachers with ongoing professional development and in-person coaching in each of the eight elementary schools. The implementation of ongoing technology professional development provided by a technology coach can help classroom educators maintain proficient technical skills to understand how to use the software programs and teacher dashboard analytics to personalize the learning experience for students, which can enhance student success.

I completed research on technology integration at the upper elementary level in the literacy classroom at three elementary schools in the district. This study can be further extended by conducting data analysis at all the elementary schools in the district. Another recommendation for this study would be to extend the research to the middle school level to determine how students perform in reading after transitioning from fourth to fifth grade, where the curriculum, materials, and teaching strategies change. Additionally, district leaders can conduct future research at the primary grades once one-to-one device deployment is implemented. District checkpoint data can be used because the primary grades do not have TCAP TNReady scores.

#### Conclusion

Despite the desire to differentiate instruction for students, many educators struggle to use technology effectively in a balanced literacy program. Educators need guidance on intentionally selecting evidence-based software programs that have proven benefits to boost reading achievement. Researchers have established that adaptive software programs increased reading achievement among elementary students when implemented with fidelity (Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). This study provided updated information about the impact two different blended eLearning programs had on reading scores within the local school district.

Positive social change is necessary for the educational realm to promote the development of individuals, communities, and organizations (Walden University, n.d.). This study provided recommendations to help create social change within the district. Positive social change depends on school administrators' and educators' effectiveness and collaborative efforts. The challenge remains for a collaborative approach between administrators, technology coaches, literacy coaches, and teachers to discover innovative strategies for meeting the needs of elementary students to improve literacy skills. Once students reach the middle school level, closing the achievement gap becomes more complex (Messer & Nash, 2018; Neitzel et al., 2021; Schechter et al., 2015; Shamir et al., 2018; Slavin, 2020).

#### References

- Akcil, U., Altinay, Z., Dagli, G., & Altinay, F. (2019). *The role of technology leadership: Innovation for school leadership in digital age* [Paper presentation]. The 15<sup>th</sup> International Scientific Conference eLearning and Software for Education, Bucharest. https://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026X-19-115
- Allington, R. L., & McGill-Franzen, A. M. (2021). Reading volume and reading achievement: A review of recent research. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 56(S1), S231–S238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.404</u>
- Arnesen, A., Braeken, J., Baker, S., Meek-Hansen, W., Ogden, T., & Melby-Lervåg, M. (2017). Growth in oral reading fluency in a semitransparent orthography: Concurrent and predictive relations with reading proficiency in Norwegian, grades 2–5. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *52*(2), 177–201.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.159</u>
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Razavieh, A., & Sorensen, C. (2006). Introduction to research in education (7th ed.). Thomson/Wadsworth.
- Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Baron, L. S., Hogan, T. P., Schechter, R. L., Hook, P. E., & Brooke, E. C. (2019). Can educational technology effectively differentiate instruction for reader profiles.
   *Reading and Writing, 32*, 2327-2352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-019-09949-4</u>
- Basham, J. D., Hall, T. E., Carter, R. A., & Stahl, W. M. (2016). An operationalized understanding of personalized learning. *Journal of Special Education Technology*,

31(3), 126-136. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162643416660835

- Baumann, J. (2014). Houghton Mifflin Harcourt journeys: Common core. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Bennett, J. G., Gardner, R., Cartledge, G., Ramnath, R., & Council, M. R. (2017).
  Second-grade urban learners: Preliminary findings for a computer-assisted, culturally relevant, repeated reading intervention. *Education and Treatment of Children, 40*(2), 145-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2017.0008</u>
- Bingham, A. J. (2017). Personalized learning in high technology charter schools. *Journal of Educational Change*, 18(4), 521–549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-017-9305-0</u>
- Bingham, A. J., Pane, J. F., Steiner, E. D., & Hamilton, L. S. (2018). Ahead of the curve: Implementation challenges in personalized learning school models. *Educational Policy*, 32(3), 454-489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0895904816637688</u>
- Boone, L. S. (2017). Agony or ecstasy: A mixed-methods study of the accelerated reader program and students' attitudes toward reading [Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee]. University of Tennessee Digital Archive.

http://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_graddiss/4736

 Brinson, E. L. (2019). Third-grade teachers' views on Achieve 3000 for the Florida State Assessment Test. (Publication No. 27665363) [Doctoral Dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

- Buckley-Marudas, M. F., & Rose, S. (2020). Leading through a pandemic: Lessons learned from the cleveland teaching collaborative. *English Leadership Quarterly*, 43(2), 5–8.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Butin, D. (2010). The education dissertation A guide for practitioner scholars. Corwin.
- Califf, C. B., & Brooks, S. (2020). An empirical study of techno-stressors, literacy facilitation, burnout, and turnover intention as experienced by K-12 teachers. *Computers & Education*, 157, 103971.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103971

 Cheung, A. C., Xie, C., Zhuang, T., Neitzel, A. J., & Slavin, R. E. (2021). Success for all:
 A quantitative synthesis of US evaluations. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 14*(1), 90-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2020.1868031</u>

Christensen Institute. (2016). Blended learning.

https://www.christenseninstitute.org/blended-learning/

Ciampa, K. (2017). Building bridges between technology and content literacy in special education: Lessons learned from special educators' use of integrated technology and perceived benefits for students, *Literacy Research and Instruction*, *56*(2), 85-

113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2017.1280863</u>

Coll, S. D., & Treagust, D. (2017). Blended learning environment: An approach to enhance students' learning experiences outside of school (LEOS). *MIER Journal* of Educational Studies, 7(2), 121-134.

- Connor, C. M. (2017). Using technology and assessment to personalize instruction: Preventing reading problems. *Prevention Science*, 20, 89-99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-017-0842-9
- Crompton, H., Olszewski, B., & Bielefeldt, T. (2015). The mobile learning training needs of educators in technology-enabled environments, *Professional Development in Education*, 42(3), 482-501. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.1001033
- Curpănaru, G. L. (2021). The model of quality assurance in education by implementing e-learning and blended learning, 2021 International Conference on Modern Management and Education Research (MMER 2021), 577, 102-104.
- Dagenais, C., Lysenko, L., Abrami, P., Bernard, R., Ramde, J., & Janosz, M. (2012). Use of research-based information by school practitioners and determinants of use: A review of empirical research. *Evidence & Policy*, 8(3), 285–309. https://doi.org/10.1332/174426412X654031
- D'Agostino, A., & Kowalski, M. (2018). School improvement in the digital age: A study of the alliance for Catholic education blended learning pilot. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 21(2), 164-181. <u>https://doi.org/10.15365/joce.2102072018</u>
- Darling-Aduana, J., & Heinrich, C. J. (2018). The role of teacher capacity and instructional practice in the integration of educational technology for emergent bilingual students. *Computers & Education, 126*, 417-432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.08.002
- Delgado, A. J., Wardlow, L., McKnight, K., & O'Malley, K. (2015). Educational technology: A review of the integration, resources, and effectiveness of

technology in K-12 classrooms. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, *14*, 397-416. <u>https://doi.org%2F10.28945%2F2298</u>

- Downes, S. (2019). Recent work in connectivism. European Journal of Open, Distance, and E-Learning, 22(2), 112-131.
- Educational Testing Service (ETS). (2012). K-12 State assessment programs: Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP)—TNReady and TCAP alternative Assessments. <u>http://www.ets.org/k12/programs/custom\_assessments</u>
- Endicott, L. (n.d.). IRB ethics review at Walden [Online tutorial]. https://waldencfe.adobeconnect.com/irb/
- Eysink, T. H. S., Hulsbeek, M., & Gijlers, H. (2017). Supporting primary school teachers in differentiating in the regular classroom. *Teaching and teacher education*, 66, 107-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.04.002</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>
- Förster, N., Kawohl, E., & Souvignier, E. (2018). Short- and long-term effects of assessment-based differentiated reading instruction in general education on reading fluency and reading comprehension. *Learning and Instruction*, 56, 98-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2018.04.009
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2018). Social statistics for a diverse society (8th ed.). Sage Publications.

Fullan, M. (2019). Nuance: Why some leaders succeed and others fail. Thousand Oaks,

CA: Corwin.

- Fullan, M. (2020). The nature of leadership is changing. *European Journal of Education*, 55(2), 139-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12388</u>
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 8*(4), 597–606.
- Graham, C. R., Borup, J., Pulham, E., & Larsen, R. (2019). K–12 blended teaching readiness: Model and instrument development. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 51(3), 239-258.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2019.1586601

Gulosino, C., & Miron, G. (2017). Growth and performance of fully online and blended K-12 public schools. *Education Policy Analysis Archives, 25*, 124.

https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.25.2859

- Hawthorn, S. (2018). Exploring the benefits of digital learning opportunities in the elementary classroom to support intervention, challenge, and personalized instruction [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest. https://10809291
- Hill, D. V., Lenard, M. A., & Page, L. C. (2016). The impact of Achieve3000 on elementary literacy outcomes: Evidence from a two-year randomized control trial. *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*, A1-B7.
- Hollands, F. M., & Pan, Y. (2018). Evaluating Digital Math Tools in the Field. *Middle Grades Review*, 4(1). https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/mgreview/vol4/iss1/8

Horn, M. B., & Fisher, J. F. (2017). New faces of blended learning. Educational

*Leadership*, 74(6), 59–63. <u>http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-</u> leadership/mar17/vol74/num06/New-Faces-of-Blended-Learning.aspx

Horn, M. B., & Staker, H. (2015). *Blended: Using disruptive innovation to improve schools.* Jossey- Bass.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 (2004).

https://sites.ed.gov/idea/about-

idea/#:~:text=The%20Individuals%20with%20Disabilities%20Education,related

%20services%20to%20those%20children.

- ISTE (2018). *Essential Conditions* [online]. Washington, DC: International Society for Technology in Education. <u>https://www.iste.org/essentialconditions</u>
- IXL Learning. (2021, March 6). Our story. https://www.ixl.com/company/story
- Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). More than just convenient: The scientific merits of homogeneous convenience samples. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 82(2), 13–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296</u>
- Jones, M., & Dexter, S. (2018). Teacher perspectives on technology integration professional development: Formal, informal, and independent learning activities. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 27(1), 83-102. <u>https://www-l\_earntechlib-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/p/178511/</u>

 Kallio, J. M., & Halverson, R. (2020). Distributed leadership for personalized learning. Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 52(3), 371-390.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2020.1734508</u>

- Kaman, S., & Ertem, I. S. (2018). The effect of digital texts on primary students' comprehension, fluency, and attitude. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research* (*EJER*), (76), 147. <u>https://doi.org/EJ1186260</u>
- Kazakoff, E. R., Macaruso, P., & Hook, P. (2018). Efficacy of a blended learning approach to elementary school reading instruction for students who are English Learners. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 66(2), 429-449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-017-9565-7</u>
- Kieschnick, W., & Casap, J. (2017). Bold school: Old school wisdom + new school technologies = blended learning that works. International Center for Leadership in Education.
- Kim, H., Shin, A. & Kye, B. (2018). Evaluation of a digital textbook program in terms of implementation fidelity. *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy*, 15(1), 3–20.
- Klaveren, C. V., Vonk, S., & Cornelisz, I. (2017). The effect of adaptive versus static practicing on student learning - evidence from a randomized field experiment. *Economics of Education Review*, 58, 175-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u>
- Klein, A. (2015). No Child Left Behind: An overview. *Education Week, (34)* 27. <u>https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/no-child-left-behind-an-overview/2015/04</u>
- Kolchenko, V. (2018). Can modern AI replace teachers? Not so fast! Artificial intelligence and adaptive learning: Personalized education in the AI age. HAPS Educator, 22(3), 249-252.

Kop, R., & Hill, A. (2008). Connectivism: Learning theory of the future or vestige of the

past? The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed

*Learning*, 9(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v9i3.523</u>

- LaBelle, J. (2017). Ethical and political implications of reflective practice among preservice teachers. *Reflective Practice*, 18(5), 688-698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2017.1307727</u>
- Lange, A. (2019). Technology, instructional methods, and the systemic messiness of innovation: Improving reading fluency for low socio-economic elementary school students. *Education Tech Research Dev*, 67, 1333-1350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09675-2
- Ledesma, L. D., & Sandoval, J. M. I. (2017). Technology-enhanced language learning:
   Choices, attitudes, and recommendations from previous research. *Academic Division of Education and Art*, 7-12.
- Leithwood, K., & Sun, J. (2018). Academic culture: A promising mediator of school leaders' influence on student learning. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(3), 350-363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-01-2017-0009</u>
- Lindqvist, M. H. (2019). School leaders' practices for innovative use of digital technologies in schools. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(3), 1226-1240. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12782
- Luo, T., Lee, G. L., & Molina, C. (2017). Incorporating IStation into early childhood classrooms to improve reading comprehension. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 16*, 247-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/3788</u>

Macaruso, P., Wilkes, S., & Prescott, J. E. (2020). An investigation of blended learning to

support reading instruction in elementary schools. *Educational Technology Research and Development, 68*, 2839-2852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09785-2</u>

- Madden, N. A., & Slavin, R. E. (2017). Evaluations of technology-assisted small-group tutoring for struggling readers. Reading & Writing Quarterly, 33(4), 327-334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2016.1255577</u>
- McCarthy, E. M., Liu, Y., & Schauer, K. L. (2020). Strengths-based blended personalized learning: An impact study using virtual comparison group. *Journal* of Research on Technology in Education, (52)3, 353-370, <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1080/15391523.2020.1716202
- Messer, D., & Nash, G. (2018). An evaluation of the effectiveness of a computer-assisted reading intervention. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 41(1), 140-158. <u>https://doi.org/:10.1111/1467-9817.12107</u>
- Mitchell, A., Baron, L., & Macaruso, P. (2018). Assessment without testing: Using performance measures embedded in a technology-based instructional program as indicators of reading ability. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 27(2), 179-192.
- Mitchell, C. (2018). Measuring third-grade reading performance with and without using the Study Island program (Publication No. 13424972) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Moore, D. S., Notz, W., & Fligner, M. A. (2013). *The basic practice of statistics*. W.H. Freeman and Co.

 Moore, M., Robinson, H. A., Sheffield, A., & Phillips, A. S. (2017). Mastering the blend:
 A professional development program for K-12 teachers. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 3(2), 145-173.

Morrison, J. R., Ross, S. M., Corcoran, R. P., & Reid, A. J. (2014). Fostering market efficiency in K-12 ed-tech procurement. Johns Hopkins University, Center for Research and Reform in Education. <u>https://digitalpromise.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/DP\_ImprovingEdTechPurchasing\_FullReport.pdf</u>

National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). *National Assessment of Educational Progress: An overview of NAEP*. National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Dept. of Education.

https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/

National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1978). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. [Bethesda, Md.]: The Commission.

National Reading Panel (U.S.), & National Institute of Child Health and Human
Development (U.S.). (2000). Report of the National Reading Panel: Teaching
children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research
literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction. Bethesda,
Maryland: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service,
National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Child Health and Human
Development. <a href="https://www.readingrockets.org/sites/default/files/NRP-2000.pdf">https://www.readingrockets.org/sites/default/files/NRP-2000.pdf</a>

National Research Council. (2018). National Science Education Standards. Washington,

D. C.: The National Academies Press.

- Neitzel, A. J., Lake, C., Pellegrini, M., & Slavin, R. E. (2021). A synthesis of quantitative research on programs for struggling readers in elementary schools. *Reading Research Quarterly*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.379</u>
- Oriji, A., & Amadi, R. (2016). E-education: Changing the mindsets of resistant and saboteur teachers. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *7*(16), 122-126.
- Owen, A. (2016). District landscape survey: Personalized learning. Personalized Learning Task Force meeting. Nashville, Tennessee: Tennessee Department of Education.

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/reports/Personalized\_Learning\_Tas k\_Force\_Report.pdf

Pace, J. R., & Mellard, D. F. (2016). Reading achievement and reading efficacy changes for middle school students with disabilities through blended learning instruction. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 31(3), 156-169.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0162643416660837

- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Chapter 5, Module 30: Purposeful sampling and case selection:
  Overview of strategies and options. *In qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed., pp. 264–315). Sage Publications.
- Picciano, A. G. (2017). Theories and frameworks for online education: Seeking an integrated model. *Online Learning*, *21*(3), 166-190.

https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i3.1225

- Powell, A., Watson, J., Staley, P., Patrick, S., Horn, M., Fetzer, L., Hibbard, L., Oglesby, J., & Verma, S. (2015). Blended learning: The evolution of online and face- toface education from 2008–2015. Promising practices in online learning. Vienna, VA: International Association for K–12 Online Learning. http://www.inacol.org/
- Prescott, J. E., Bundschuh, K., Kazakoff, E. R., & Macaruso, P. (2018). Elementary school–wide implementation of a blended learning program for reading intervention. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *111*(4), 497-506. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2017.1302914
- Project Tomorrow. (2013). Speak up: From chalkboards to tablets: The digital conversion of the K-12 classroom.

http://www.tomorrow.org/speakup/SU12 EducatorsandParentsTEXT.html

- Puzio, K., Colby, G. T., & Algeo-Nichols, D. (2020). Differentiated literacy instruction: Boondoggle or best practice. *Review of Educational Research 90*(4), 459-498. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320933536</u>
- Raffaghelli, J. E. (2017). Does flipped classroom work? Critical analysis of empirical evidences on its effectiveness for learning. *Open Journal per la formazione in rete, 17*(3), 116-134. <u>https://doi.org/10.13128/formare-21216</u>

Rasinski, T. (2003). The fluent reader. Scholastic Professional Books.

Rasinski, T. (2019). Introduction to special issue of reading psychology on reading fluency. *Reading Psychology*, 40(4), 325-

328, https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2018.1555360

Reading Plus. (2020, September 8). Reading plus company history and background.

https://www.readingplus.com/history/#:~:text=In%20early%202003%2C%20Mar k%20Taylor,LAN%20and%20WAN%20use%20options.

- Rice, R. (2018). Implementing connectivist teaching strategies in traditional K-12 classrooms. In: Nah FH., Xiao B. (eds) *HCI in Business, Government, and Organizations*. HCIBGO 2018. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 10923. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91716-0\_51</u>
- Rombot, O., Boeriswait, E., & Suparman, M. A. (2020). Improving reading comprehension skills of international elementary school students through blended learning. *Al Ibtida; Journal of Teacher Education Mi*, 7(1), 56-68. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.24235/al.ibtida.snj.v7i1.6045</u>
- Schechter, R., Macaruso, P., Kazakoff, E. R., & Brooke, E. (2015). Exploration of a blended learning approach to reading instruction for low SES students in early elementary grades. *Computers in the Schools*, *32*(3-4), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.1080/07380569.2015.1100652
- See, B. H., & Gorard, S. (2020). Effective classroom instructions for primary literacy: A critical review of the causal evidence. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 102, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101577</u>
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference. Boston, MA: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Shaffer, D. W., Nash, P., & Ruis, A. R. (2015). Technology and the new professionalization of teaching. *Teachers College Record*, 117(12), 1-30.

- Shamir, H., Feehan, K., & Yoder, E. (2017). Computer assisted instruction in early literacy for african american, economically disadvantaged children. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 26(2), 179-192.
- Shamir, H., Yoder, E., Pocklington, D., & Feehan, K. (2018). Using adaptive CAI to supplement literacy development in early learners. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 27(3), 367-389.
- Siddiquee, T. A. R., Abdullah, F., Sanusi, A., & Hasan, M. (2019). The blended learning (B-Learning): Present status and future prospects. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-013-9066-6</u>
- Siemens, G. (2005). Connectivism: A learning theory for the digital age. *International Journal of Instructional Technology & Distance Learning*, 2(1).

http://itdl.org/Journal/Jan\_05/article01.htm

- Siemens, G. (2008). *Learning and knowing in networks: Changing roles for educators and designers* [Paper presentation]. ITFORUM for Discussion, 27, 1-26.
- Siemens, G. (2011). Connectivism: Design and delivery of social networked learning [Special issue]. International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 12(3). http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/994/1831
- Slavin, R. E. (2020). How evidence-based reform will transform research and practice in education. *Educational Psychologist*, 55(1), 21-

31. <u>https://doi.org./10.1080/00461520.2019.1611432</u>

Sorbie, J. (2015). *Exploring teacher perceptions of blended learning* (Publication No. 3741128) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

Staker, H., & Horn, M. B. (2012). Classifying K-12 blended learning. Mountain View, CA: Innosight Institute. <u>http://www.christenseninstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Classifying-K-12-blended-learning.pdf</u>

- Storey, C., McDowell, C., & Leslie, J. C. (2020). Headsprout Early Reading for specific literacy difficulty: A comparison study. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 29, 619-633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-019-09336-7</u>
- Stork, M. G., Goode, H., Jeter, R., & Zhang, J. (2018). Embracing the power of digital in literacy education: Evaluating the effectiveness of digital activities. *Journal of Formative Design in Learning*, 2(2), 82-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41686-018-0022-8</u>
- Sutter, C. C., Campbell, L. O., & Lambie, G. W. (2020). Predicting second-grade students' yearly standardized reading achievement using a computer-adaptive assessment. *Computers in the Schools*, 37(1), 40-54.

Taylor, D. B., Handler, L. K., FitzPatrick, E., & Whittingham, C. E. (2020). The device in the room: Technology's role in third grade literacy instruction. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 52(4), 515-533. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2020.1747577

Tennessee Department of Education. (n.d.-a). How TNReady is created for Tennessee

students.

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/documents/How\_TNReady\_is\_Crea ted\_FINAL.pdf

Tennessee Department of Education. (n.d.-b). Overview of testing in Tennessee.

https://tn.gov/education/assessment/testing-overview.html

Tennessee Department of Education. (n.d.-c). Student assessment in Tennessee.

https://www.tn.gov/education/assessment.html

- Tennessee Department of Education. (2016). *Personalized Learning Task Force report*. <u>https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/reports/Personalized\_Learning\_Tas</u> <u>k\_Force\_Report.pdf</u>
- Terrazas-Arellanes, F., Strycker, L., Walden, E., & Gallard, A. (2017). Teaching with technology: Applications of collaborative online learning units to improve 21st century skills for all. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics and Science Teaching*, 36(4), 375–386. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/178279/</u>
- Thomas, G. (2017). *How to do your research project: A guide for students*. SAGE Publications.
- TN Department of Education. (n.d.). *State Report Card*. <u>https://www.tn.gov/education/data/report-card.html</u>
- Tomlinson, C. (1995). Differentiating instruction for advanced learners in the mixedability middle school classroom. *ERIC Digest E536*. <u>http://www.eric.ed.gov/</u>
- Topping, K. (2018). Implementation fidelity in computerised assessment of book reading. *Computers & Education, 116,* 176-190.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.09.009

- Turner, J., Young-Lowe, W. F., & Newton, J. (2018). Teachers' perceptions of the use of blended learning for instructional delivery and student production in K-12 classrooms. *International Journal of Learning and Development*, 8(2), 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/ijld.v8i2.1286</u>
- Unal, Z., & Unal, A. (2017). Comparison of student performance, student perception, and teacher satisfaction with traditional versus flipped classroom models.
   *International Journal of Instruction, 10*(4), 145-164.
   https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2017.1049a

United States Department of Education. (2001). No Child Left Behind (NCLB). https://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html

United States Department of Education. (2009). *Race to the Top program executive summary*. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/executive-summary.pdf</u>

United States Department of Education. (2015). Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). https://www.ed.gov/essa

United States Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology. (2017). *Reimaging the role of technology in education: 2017 National Education Technology Plan update*. <u>https://tech.ed.gov/files/2017/01/NETP17.pdf</u>

United States National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: the imperative for educational reform*. Washington, D.C.: The National Commission on Excellence in Education.

- Urbina, A., & Polly, D. (2017). Examining elementary school teachers' integration of technology and enactment of TPACK in mathematics. *The International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, *34*(5), 439-451.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJILT-06-2017-0054
- Wagner, W. E. (2016). Using IBM® SPSS® statistics for research methods and social science statistics (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Walden University. (n.d.). Retrieved February 19, 2022, from

https://www.waldenu.edu/why-walden/social-change

Whitley, J., Gooderham, S., Duquette, C., Orders, S., & Cousins, J.

B. (2019). Implementing differentiated instruction: a mixed-methods exploration of teacher beliefs and practices, *Teachers and Teaching*, (25)8, 1043-

1061, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2019.1699782</u>

- Wijekumar, K. K., Beerwinkle, A. L., Harris, K. R., & Graham, S. (2019). Etiology of teacher knowledge and instructional skills for literacy at the upper elementary grades. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 69(1), 5-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-00170-6</u>
- Wilkes, S., Kazakoff, E. R., Prescott, J. E., Bundschuh, K., Hook, P. E., Wolf, R.,
  Hurwitz, L. B., & Macaruso, P. (2020). Measuring the impact of a blended
  learning model on early literacy growth. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*,
  36, 595-609. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12429

- Wong, S. L., Green, L. A., & Bazemore, A. W., & Miller, B. F. (2017). How to write a health policy brief. *Families, Systems, & Health, 33*(1), 21-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000238</u>
- Xie, K., Kim, M. K., Cheng, S. L., & Luthy, N. C. (2017). Teacher professional development through digital content evaluation. *Education Technology Research Development*, 65, 1067-1103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-017-9519-0</u>
- Xu, Z., Wijekumar, K., Ramirez, G., Hu, X., & Irey, R. (2019). The effectiveness of intelligent tutoring systems on K-12 students' reading comprehension: A metaanalysis. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(6), 3119-3137.
- Zawilinski, L., Richard, K., & Henry, L. (2016). Inverting instruction in literacy methods courses: Making learning more active and personal. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 59(6), 695-708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.49</u>

#### Appendix: The Project

Policy Recommendation for Adaptive Software Programs in Upper Elementary Blended

## Learning Classrooms

## **Executive Summary**

Elementary educators must improve literacy skills before students reach the middle school level, where closing the achievement gap becomes more complex (Messer & Nash, 2018; Neitzel et al., 2021; Schechter et al., 2015; Shamir et al., 2018; Slavin, 2020). Evidence of blended learning's influence on student learning at the elementary level continues to grow. Though researchers have demonstrated that adaptive practice software is an effective tool for primary grade students, they have not fully established the impact of blended eLearning tools on upper elementary students in a suburban school setting. This southeastern state district's problem was that elementary schools selected different interventions to address declining reading scores. The district had no systematic analysis of the chosen adaptive reading eLearning interventions to determine an improvement in reading growth scores among all students. Analysis of TCAP TNReady scores of upper elementary students across three schools in the district indicated that students who used Reading Plus for one year had better reading outcomes than students who used no software programs or IXL. Using an adaptive software program as a supplement to the adopted reading curriculum may assist teachers in differentiating instruction for students.

Based on findings that blended learning positively affected reading scores, it would be beneficial to consider the following recommendations:

- conduct an ongoing systematic analysis of selected programs
- critically evaluate the use of adaptive software programs
- provide ongoing educational technology support to elementary teachers by providing an additional instructional coach devoted to elementary teachers

## Introduction

The problem facing this southeastern state district was that elementary schools selected different interventions to address declining reading scores, but the district had no systematic analysis of the chosen adaptive reading eLearning interventions to determine an improvement in reading growth scores among all students. There was limited analysis to examine if there was a statistically significant difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between IXL and Reading Plus, controlling for sex, district ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. This project study addressed a local problem by focusing specifically on implemented blended eLearning tools to support elementary students' reading achievement. The purpose of this study was to examine the difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between three schools (no blended learning, IXL, and Reading Plus), controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores.

#### Background

Schools and educators across the nation place high regard on increasing student achievement, as proficient reading skills allow students to develop foundational skills for lifelong learning (McCarthy et al., 2020). However, recent national and state achievement assessment data for reading show an alarming trend. The 2019 National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) report indicated that average reading scores for grades 4 and 8 were lower than 2017 scores (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). According to this report, fourth grade students scoring at or above NAEP proficient fell from 37% in 2017 to 35% in 2019 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Similarly, eighth grade students fell from 36% in 2017 to 34% in 2019 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Similarly, the Tennessee State Report Card indicated that students in the district of this study are showing less academic growth in English Language Arts (ELA) compared to Math (TN Department of Education, n.d.). The southeastern state school district quarterly checkpoint assessment data also indicated that reading lagged behind math scores in fourth grade, particularly with English Language Learners (ELLs; Principal, personal communication, January 9, 2020), as displayed in a table for teachers to view during the checkpoint data meeting.

Because research indicated that blended learning interventions improve standardized test scores, one southeastern state school district launched a blended learning initiative in 2016 to infuse technology in grades 3-12. This initiative provided students with 1:1 laptop devices, access to various software programs, and professional development for teachers. The district modeled their personalized blended learning plan from Tennessee's Personalized Learning Task Force Report, which offered guidance to Tennessee educators on leveraging technology to provide students with pathways to success (Tennessee Department of Education, 2016).

Once one-to-one laptops, or 1:1, were implemented in third and fourth grades in the school district, school administrators and teachers began searching for software programs to enhance student outcomes. Elementary schools chose different programs, and some chose no programs. Reading Plus and IXL were two adaptive software programs used by two different schools in the district that required a paid subscription.

Like other studies about reading software selection (Delgado et al., 2015; Zawilinski et al., 2016), educators debated which blended learning software programs had the most positive impact on student achievement. Administrators in the district expressed growing concern about whether the recent 1:1 blended learning initiative was impacting state achievement scores (Supervisor of Instructional Technology [pseudonym], personal communication, December 8, 2019). The district's Five-Year Strategic Plan 2017 stated that the district's goal is to continue refining effective technology applications in elementary grades. According to the Tennessee Department of Education, districts across the state reported concerns of "developing an efficient process for vetting new and expanding digital content and tools" (Owen, 2016, p. 8). Both Reading Plus and IXL have independent studies to support their claims (IXL, 2021; Reading Plus, 2020). Because there appears to be a gap in peer-reviewed practice literature about the effect IXL or Reading Plus has on declining reading scores in upper elementary students in suburban schools, hindering decisions on software programs by the schools. Examining the impact of blended eLearning tools on academic achievement fills this systematic analysis void in the local gap of practice.

The policy recommendation examined the differences that two blended eLearning software programs had on fourth grade TCAP TNReady reading scores. Because the interventions occurred before this project, I evaluated the software programs' impact on TCAP TNReady reading scores using archival data. Although 2018-2019 was the first year of implementation at the school level, this analysis may support IXL or Reading Plus's implementation at the district level. The purpose of the project was to examine the difference in TCAP TNReady ELA scores from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019 between three schools (no blended learning, IXL, and Reading Plus), controlling for sex, ELA yearly averages, and third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. By analyzing the state assessment data of the treatment schools and one control school, I gained insight into the effectiveness of the implemented programs. The data collection and analysis findings will guide administrators, technology leaders, and teachers in improving the literacy skills of upper elementary students.

## Evidence

To evaluate the amount of growth students showed from TCAP TNReady data because of using different eLearning tools, I used a one-way ANCOVA on the score gains (change) with the beginning scores as one of the covariates. The chosen covariates selected for this study were sex, ELA yearly averages, and the third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores. Based on the literature review, I discovered that boys often scored lower in reading achievement than girls (see Pace & Mellard, 2016). Therefore, sex was included as my first covariate. Students' ELA yearly averages could cause changes in reading test scores. Therefore, ELA yearly averages were included as a covariate to help me determine the treatment's impact on students' test scores. The final covariate, third grade TCAP TNReady ELA scores, was chosen to help me have more robust research findings and to ensure homogeneity between the three groups (see Burkholder et al., 2016).

I examined the TCAP TNReady ELA test scores of 141 fourth grade students from North Ridge School, South View School, and Woodmont School (pseudonyms) stored in the school district's student information service database, PowerSchool. One group of students receiving IXL treatment (North Ridge Elementary) only had 28 participants compared to the two groups who had 56 and 57 participants. This study's treatment schools were selected because they had similar demographics and used IXL Reading and Reading Plus blended learning reading software programs for literacy support. The control school, Woodmont School, was selected because the school had similar demographics and state report card scores as the two treatment schools in years 2017-2018 and 2018-2019. The control school did not use any form of blended learning programs for reading. There were no other schools in the district using the two blended learning programs that met the criteria.

Significant differences were found between the control group and the groups that used blended learning to supplement the adopted reading program. I performed a oneway ANCOVA to determine if there was a difference in the mean change scores of the three schools. The Reading Plus adaptive reading intervention program effectively differentiated reading instruction for fourth grade students to increase growth and achievement. There was a significant difference in mean change in ELA scores for at least two schools, (F(2, 136) = 7.43, p < .001), as shown in Table A1. The F statistic is simply a ratio of two variances, or a measure of dispersion or how far the data are scattered about the mean. It essentially just compares the joint effect of all variables together. Larger values represent greater dispersion. Post hoc tests (pairwise comparisons) showed there was a significant difference between Woodmont Elementary and North Ridge Elementary (p = 0.004) and North Ridge Elementary and South View Elementary (p = 0.001).

## Table 1

**One-Way ANCOVA Test Results** 

	Sums of Square	df	Mean Square	F Statistic	Sig.
School Name	6147.12	2	3073.56	7.431	.001
Error	56251.74	136	413.62		

Follow-up tests demonstrated a significant difference in ELA scores between Woodmont and Northridge Elementary and between Northridge and Southview elementary. There was no significant difference between ELA mean change scores for Southview and Woodmont elementary. Figure A1 shows the estimated marginal means demonstrating the most significant change in ELA scores occurred in South View Elementary (mean = -9.198), compared to Woodmont Elementary (mean = -11.768) and North Ridge Elementary (mean = -27.361). Although significant loss was observed in all schools, South View had the least gains.

## Figure 1

Estimated Marginal Means



To put it plainly, South View used the same reading program, but had better reading outcomes than Woodmont and North Ridge. This could be attributed to the use of Reading Plus adaptive software as a supplement to the regular literacy curriculum. Due to high transiency among the student population at North Ridge, students in this school need additional support to increase their literacy skills.

#### Recommendations

While the gains were not as expected, this is a trend we have been seeing in our district reading scores over the past several years. This problem was a catalyst for this research study. As a district, it is important to identify which schools are showing the least amount of loss to pinpoint what programs have the greatest outcome for our students. Based on findings that blended learning positively affected reading scores, it

would be beneficial for the decision-makers to consider the following recommendations to improve technology integration and ultimately increase reading scores among upper elementary students.

## **Recommendation 1: Conduct Ongoing Systematic Analysis**

Reading Plus helped students make more significant gains in reading achievement from third to fourth grade than IXL. Conducting ongoing analysis is critical for determining which programs are meeting the needs of the students in the district.

It is recommended that district administration consult Evidence for ESSA or the What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) as a source for guidance on selecting programs for implementation (Cheung et al., 2021; Neitzel et al., 2021; Slavin, 2020). Once evidencebased programs are chosen and implemented, it is recommended that district administration conduct an ongoing analysis of district and state test scores to determine the impact of reading instructional materials on student achievement and growth (Oriji & Amadi, 2016; Raffaghelli, 2017). The data analysis findings should be communicated to curriculum coaches and teachers (Wijekumar et al., 2019). Furthermore, district technology coaches and reading coaches can determine which literacy software programs to purchase for the entire district. Based on the results of the study, and evidence from previous research (Macaruso et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018), I recommend choosing one adaptive software program for the district will provide consistency among the schools and a stable learning environment for transient students (Macaruso et al. 2020; Prescott et al. 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). Data analysis can be further extended to all of the elementary schools in the district to determine if the blended learning initiative is having a positive impact on student achievement. Additionally, this study could be extended to the middle school level to determine how students perform in reading after transitioning from fourth to fifth grade, where the curriculum, materials, and teaching strategies change. Furthermore, future research can be conducted at the primary grades once one-to-one device deployment is implemented. Because the primary grades do not have TCAP TNReady scores, district checkpoint data can be used.

## **Recommendation 2: Critically Evaluate Use of Adaptive Software Programs**

It is recommended that administrators, curriculum coaches, and the IT department monitor program usage to determine if teachers are using the selected adaptive programs with fidelity. Lack of program usage can indicate several problems, including a need for more professional development opportunities, assisting teachers in integrating the program with the state-adopted textbook, or providing more opportunities to determine if the program is meeting the needs of the student population.

This study supports previous research studies that found using literacy software programs in blended learning classrooms has motivational benefits and increases student achievement (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Kolchenko, 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Mitchell, 2018; Prescott et al., 2018; Shamir et al., 2017; Storey et al., 2020). Technological tools aid in assessing student performance, providing real-time data, supporting student learning, and planning for whole group and small group instruction (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Mitchell et al., 2018; Pace & Mellard, 2016; Terrazas-Arellanes et al.,

2017). Moreover, students in blended learning classrooms are more motivated and engaged, thus increasing achievement (Bennett et al., 2017; Kaman & Ertem, 2018; Stork et al., 2018).

To differentiate instruction in reading, teachers often meet with small groups of students during literacy stations. In a blended learning classroom, teachers are better able to maximize their time by utilizing literacy software programs to support student learning while meeting with small groups of students (D'Agostino & Kowalski, 2018; Pace & Mellard, 2016; Sutter et al., 2020; Terrazas-Arellanes et al., 2017). Using supportive resources, like CAI and adaptive software programs, targets student performance with real-time feedback. Adaptive software programs can mimic human tutoring by scaffolding learning and providing a sequence of content each student needs to progress (Xu et al., 2019). Using adaptive learning software personalizes struggling students' learning experience and advanced students (Basham et al., 2016). Research shows adaptive software programs can increase student achievement and can close the achievement gap, particularly with low-SES and ELL students (Kazakoff et al., 2018; Kolchenko, 2018; Macaruso et al., 2020; Mitchell, 2018; Prescott et al., 2018; Shamir et al., 2017).

# Recommendation 3: Provide Ongoing Educational Technology Support to Elementary Teachers

The literacy curriculum needs immediate change to improve reading achievement and growth for upper elementary students. By implementing an adaptive software program in blended learning classrooms to support the reading textbook adoption, teachers will be prepared to differentiate instruction (Baron et al., 2019; Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Puzio et al., 2020; Schechter et al., 2015). Ongoing teacher support in implementing these programs with intentionality ensures program fidelity. Using blended learning with intentional usage of evidence-based programs during reading instruction can transform the way teachers meet the individual needs of their students.

It is recommended that the district expand the Teacher Technology Leader program to include an elementary instructional technology coach to serve teachers and students. Professional development provided by a technology coach will help classroom educators maintain proficient technology skills (Califf & Brooks, 2020; Leithwood & Sun, 2018). An elementary technology coach can also help teachers gain a better understanding of how to use the software programs and teacher dashboard analytics to personalize the learning experience for students (Fullan, 2020; ISTE, 2018; Buckley-Marudas & Rose, 2020). Having one instructional technology coach devoted to serving only the elementary teachers will allow for more in-class modeling, guided planning for intentional technology use, and scaffolded support for teachers.

#### Conclusions

Despite the desire to differentiate instruction for students, many educators struggle to use technology effectively in a balanced literacy program. Intentionally selecting the most effective software programs boosts reading achievement among elementary students when implemented with fidelity (Kazakoff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2020; Prescott et al., 2018; Schechter et al., 2015). This study provided updated information about the impact two different blended eLearning programs had on reading scores within the local school district.

Positive social change is necessary to promote the development of individuals, communities, and organizations (Walden University, 2021). This study provided recommendations to help create social change within the district. Positive social change depends on the effectiveness and collaborative efforts between school administrators and educators. The challenge remains for administrators, technology coaches, literacy coaches, and teachers to discover innovative strategies for meeting the needs of elementary students. Elementary educators must improve literacy skills before students reach the middle school level, where closing the achievement gap becomes more complex (Messer & Nash, 2018; Neitzel et al., 2021; Schechter et al., 2015; Shamir et al., 2018; Slavin, 2020).